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SENATOR C. WILLIAM HAINES (CHAIRMAR): Thank you all 

for coming. If you wish to testify, bring your requests up to 

Peter here, and he will -- we will honor them in order. 

We've called this hearing today because of the 

controversy surrounding the adoption by the Turnpike of a 

resolution which requires all contractors working on the 

Authority • s widening program to sign project labor agreements 

with member unions of the building construction trade unions of 

the AFL-CIO, and to use those unions exclusively on the 

project. In mid-September, the Governor signed Executive Order 

No. 99, which also permits project labor agreements on public 

projects, but this Order differs somewhat in its scope. 

We're here today to examine the circumstances under 

which the Turnpike Authority adopted its resolution, and also 

to examine the public policy aspects of this type of 

agreement. The Turnpike has expressed some concern about its 

testimony in view of the fact that litigation is pending, but 

our legal counsel has assured me that there is no legal 

impediment to the Committee holding a hearing to discuss an 

Authority policy which is subject to litigation. I have 

assured the Authority that it is not the intention of the 

Committee to compromise any party's legal position; moreover, 

all of the documents which we have used for this inquiry are 

matters of public record. Actually, legislative committees 

have frequently held hearings on matters which have been in 

litigation without compromising any of the parties' interest, 

and that will be the case today. 

We would like all of the speakers to keep their formal 

comments limited to 10 minutes, as we have a number of speakers 

and the Committee has a number of questions to ask. We would 

first like to hear from the Turnpike Authority through its 

Chairman, David Goldberg, and we have with him Don Watson. 

D A V I D J. G 0 L D B .E R G, .ESQ.: Good morning, Mr. 

Chairman. 
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SENATOR HAINES: Mr. Goldberg, the floor is yours. 

MR. GOLDBERG: Thank you, Committe members. Chairman 

Haines, and members of the Committee, first of all, let me 

express my appreciation for the scheduling of this meeting for 

today. I was not available for the date the Committee 

originally had selected. You have already pointed out that the 

Authority is engaged in litigation in both State and Federal 

court, and to that extent it may limit the extent to which the 

Authority can discuss some aspects of this. 

On the other hand, I think the Committee has a perfect 

right to ask questions about the actions of the Authority, and 

the attempt here this morning will be to give you an adequate 

basis. As you've mentioned, we have already supplied the 

Committee with a great many documents, and this is a duplicate 

set of what the Committee already has, so that you've got, I 

think, most of the material that explains what the Authority 

did, and the Authority's statements as to why they felt it was 

an appropriate action to take. 

As you've also mentioned, the Authority has specified 

the use of project labor agreements for the completion of its 

1990-1995 widening projects between Interchanges 11 and 11E -­

I mean 15E -- which I refer to as the widening project. On the 

chart to my left is a breakout of that project area and an 

indication of the contracts that have been awarded -- the name 

of the contractors; the amount of the contract -- so you can 

get a sense of what the project is. The widening-- We have 

done this to assure that labor unrest will not interfere with 

the timely completion of this entire project. The project is 

on a strict timetable for completion by December 1995 for 

several reasons: 

First, the bulk of the remaining construction is in 

the most heavily traveled and the most dangerous portion of the 

entire Turnpike; that is, the Southern Mixing Bowl between 

Interchanges 14 and 15E. The rendering off to the -- or the 
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plan that's off to my right details the section that we refer 

to as the Southern Mixing Bowl. For public safety modification 

of this 2 .1-mile stretch of road, where multiple lanes merge, 

cross, and then separate into the westerly and easterly spurs 

of the Turnpike, it must be completed as soon as possible. 

Second, the presence of construction zones is itself a 

concern to the Turnpike and, I think, to the general public. 

The longer construction zones are in place, particulary in an 

area as congested as the Southern Mixing Bowl, the greater is 

the danger to motorists and workers. Construction zones have 

the potential of increasing roadway accidents. Among other 

things, they may cause slowdowns that result in collisions; 

they can present obstacles that vehicles can hit; and they can 

divert drivers' attention. 

I will tell you that the Turnpike recently was highly 

concerned by an accident that killed three construction workers 

on the Bayonne Bridge. We've done a number of things to try 

and make sure that the men who work on our highways are 

adequately protected and not exposed to undue accidents. But· 

the reality is that when you're out there doing construction 

work, there is an exposure. The less time it takes us to do 

the construction, the safer the work will be and the safer the 

traveling public will be. 

Third, the Authority's environmental permit from the 

Army Corps requires completion of all aspects of the widening 

by February 28, 1996. To meet this deadline and complete 

required inspections and cleanup, construction must be 

completed by the end of December 1995. 

Fourth, timely completion of the widening project is 

an integral element of New Jersey's efforts to meet its 

obligations under the Federal Clean Air Act to reduce air 

pollution by 1996. If the State does not adequately reduce air 

pollution by '96, the State could forfeit hundreds of millions 

of dollars in Federal Transportation money. 
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The Authority has agreed, at the urging of 

environmental agencies, as a matter of policy to use the 

high-occupancy vehicle, or HOV lanes between Interchange 11 and 

14. These HOV lanes should assist in achieving the State's 

clean air goals, but the Authority cannot implement these HOV 

lanes until construction on the widening project has been 

completed. 

Finally, timely completion of the entire widening 

project is essential to improving the roadway's level of 

service. Until completion of construction in the Southern 

Mixing Bowl, which is north of Interchange 14, the Authority 

cannot open new lanes under construction to the south between 

Woodbridge arid Newark. The project, in essence, is all tied 

together, and to make the project functional we need it all. 

These are major reasons why completion of the widening 

project is considered essential by the Authority. Let me also 

explain why the use of a project labor agreement can help 

achieve this objective. A project labor agreement -- sometimes 

called a prehire agreement -- is an arrangement whereby a union 

is designated as the exclusive bargaining agent on a 

construction job in return for assurances that the union will 

not strike or otherwise disrupt the job. A project labor 

agreement is a prehire agreement that applies to all 

contractors on a given project. In this case, the project is 

the widening. 

From the project owner's perspective, prehire 

agreements serve several purposes. Not only do they assure 

labor peace, but they allow contractors to precalculate labor 

costs, and they assure employers of a pool of workers. From 

the perspective of the construction workers, the designated 

union provides job stability for the workers by acting as an 

employment agency and a collective bargaining representative. 

Prehire agreements are permitted by the National Labor 

Relations Act only in the construction industry. Generally, 
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the NLRA forbids employers and unions from executing a 

collective bargaining agreement until the union achieves 

majority status by means of an election. In 1959, recognizing 

that employment in the construction industry is short-lived and 

sporadic, Congress amended the NLRA to permit the use of 

prehire agreements in the construction sector. It was clear 

from the outset that private project owners had this right, but 

it was unclear whether public agencies also had it. 

In the Boston Harbor case, which was decided in March 

of this year, the U.S. Supreme Court answered this question, 

ruling unanimously that a public Authority charged with the 

cleaning up of Boston Harbor could designate the Boston area 

BCTC -- the same union we're talking about -- as the exclusive 

bargaining agent for workers engaged in the cleanup, in return 

for a no-strike commitment. 

After the Boston Harbor decision came down in March of 

'93, the Authority staff began to examine the feasibility of 

using project labor agreements on the remainder of the widening 

project. In fact, the Authority was analyzing the Boston 

Harbor case and drafting a proposed form of project labor 

agreement when a strike occurred on the widening project itself 

on July 1, 1993, following the expiration of the collective 

bargaining agreement between Local 825 and various contractors 

working on the widening project. 

The strike continued for three weeks until July 22. 

It was the longest strike in Turnpike construction history. 

Several other unions struck in sympathy with Local 825. News 

reports indicated that the job action halted bridge resurfacing 

contracts in South Jersey, Parkway resurfacing contracts, and 

various State highway jobs, as well as monorail construction at 

the Newark Airport. 

On the day the. strike ended -- by happenstance, I 

would add July 22, as Chairman of the Authority's Law, 

Finance, and Policy Committee, I met with, actually, Authority 
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staff to discuss possible implementation of prehire labor 

agreements. The Director of Law at that time recommended such 

a policy, and although it's in all of these documents, a copy 

of that statement is attached hereto. As Chairman of the 

Committee, I directed staff to draft a proposed resolution that 

would require project labor agreements for the widening project. 

On the morning of August 24, the Authority's Committee 

again met and discussed the implementation of project labor 

agreements. At that meeting, the Director of Law again renewed 

his recommendation that the Authority require all current and 

prospective contractors on the widening project to enter into 

such agreements. At the Committee meeting,_ the staff was 
I 

directed to finalize the appropriate resolutibn and to schedule 

the matter for action by the full Authority Commission at -its 

August 31st meeting, which was then scheduled. 

During the afternoon of that same day, bids were 

opened on a particular contract -- Contract No. W-6411. The 

low bidder was George Harms Construction Company. Because of 

the Committee's decision to require prehire agreements for all 

widening contracts, staff was directed to contact Harms and ask 

if Harms would agree to the inclusion of such a provision in 

the contract. Harms was advised that staff would recommend the 

rejection of all bids unless the contract was to contain such a 

provision. Staff also advised Harms that staff would recommend 

the award of the contract to Harms as low bidder if the 

contract contained such a provision. 

Harms refused to accept such a provision. Upon Harms• 

refusal to accept a prehire agreement with the BCTC, Authority 

staff recommended the rejection of all bids on the contract. 

On August 31, 1993, the Commissioners adopted 

Resolution 19-93, requiring widening projects to enter into -­

requiring widening project contractors to enter into project 

labor agreements with BCTC unions. Again, a copy of that 

resolution is included with my statement for the convenience of 
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the members. Thereafter, a resolution rejecting all bids and 

readvertising Contract No. W-6411 was likewise considered and 

approved as permitted by the Authority's regulations and its 

Standard Specifications. The Authority's specifications gave 

the Authority the right to reject all bids. The Authority then 

rebid the contract with a supplemental specification requiring 

the low bidder and all its subcontractors to enter into project 

labor agreements. 

Harms' bid on Contract No. W-6411 was rejected, as 

were all the other bids on that contract, not because the 

Authority disapproves of Harms as a contractor or favors any 

other contractor, and not because the Authority favors B'CTC 

labor to the Steelworkers. Bids were rejected on that contract 

because the bid specifications did not contain a requirement 

that project labor agreements be entered into with the BCTC for 

widening projects only. 

At present, all of the work on the widening project is 

being done by BCTC labor, and all contractors on the widening 

project have collective bargaining agreements with member 

unions of BCTC. Thus, BCTC is the dominant labor force on the 

Authority's widening project. In fact, BCTC has been the 

exclusive bargaining agent for labor on nearly all Turnpike 

construction contracts. 

Moreover, BCTC is likely to remain the dominant labor 

force on the widening project, not only because BCTC labor is 

already there, but also because all the bidders on these 

projects other than Harms have collective bargaining 

agreements with BCTC unions. As a consequence, the Authority 

had good reason to assume that successful bidders on widening 

contracts would use BCTC labor even in the absence of a project 

labor agreement. 

As the dominant labor force on the widening project, 

BCTC is in a position to delay this critical project merely by 

exercising the union's lawful right to picket or strike. 
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Because of its standing among its sister unions, even an 

informational picketing could cause sympathetic unions to 

refuse to enter a job site. The work stoppage in July 1993, 

which was a perfectly legal job action, threatened the timely 

completion of the widening project. Had a project labor 

agreement been in place, no work stoppage could legally have 

occurred. To prevent further work stoppages, the Authority 

elected to seek a prehire agreement with BCTC. 

In a project labor agreement, only one union or group 

of unions is designated as the exclusive bargaining agency. In 

return for this exclusivity, the union gives up the lawful 

right to picket or strike. In this case, not only did BCTC 

unions commit to no-strike agreements on newly awarded widening 

contracts, but the BCTC unions committed to project labor 

agreements on the 28 previously awarded widening contracts. To 

the Authority, this was a critical and extremely important 

concession. 

We got back what, in my opinion, was what we had to 

have; that was, the guarantee that we would have no further 

work stoppages not simply on the contracts that we award 

hereafter, but on all of the contracts that have been 

previously awarded, because, as I've mentioned, this entire 

project is tied together, and the completion of all of the 

contracts on schedule is critical to the attaining of our 

objective, which is the completion of this work by December of 

1995. 

I think, because of the shortness of time, the 

remainder of my statement pretty well speaks for itself. It 

does point out in detai 1, Mr. Chairman, that in terms of our 

record on this job and there is attached to this statement a 

detailing of the bids that we have received on this -- that we 

have satisfied ourselves that this is not going to adversely 

affect us in terms of competitive bids and in terms of cost of 

bids. 
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We have also pointed out that this was not an 

across-the-board comprehensive requirement. The Authority, in 

addition to the widening program, has substantial other capital 

programs. We commit approximately or nearly $50 million a year 

in other construction contracts separate and apart from the 

widening. Those contracts at the present time are not subject 

to prehire agreements. So what the Authority has done is 

carefully craft a limited approach to this whole question to 

prehire agreements, which admittedly is a relatively new area 

for all of us in the public sector, because it follows upon the 

decision of the U.S. Supreme Court that occurred only six 

months ago. 

This is an area where I think all public agencies are 

going to be feeling their way. We have deliberately tried to 

craft a midcourse approach to it that's limited and is tied to 

what we feel is a critically important objective; that is, the 

completion of this project on schedule. 

As I note in my concluding remarks, we will monitor 

what happens. We have the same interests that, I think, some 

of the Committee members may have: to make sure that the use of 

a prehire agreement is not counterproductive; that it doesn't 

by virtue of giving one union, in effect, the right to be the 

sole representative on construction jobs, create a situation 

where that union acts arbitrarily or improperly, or makes it 

difficult or impossible for contractors to carry out their 

commitments to the Authority. 

That's critically important to us, and obviously, in 

terms of what we do in the future, it wi 11 be affected and 

determined by what our experience turns out to be. But as far 

as the widening is concerned, it is essentially at the end. 

We're down to the point where, I think, we have two major 

contracts now remaining to award. Therefore, in return for 

agreeing that those several contracts are going to be contracts 

in which BCTC will be the representative union, we have 
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secured what is to us critically important; that is, a 

guarantee 

hopefully, 

I 

anticipate 

of labor 

to finish 

have, to 

areas of 

harmony which puts us in a position, 

this project on time. 

the extent that I understand it, tried to 

concern to the Committee. But obviously, 

to the extent that I haven't answered questions that you have, 

at this point, Mr. Chairman, I'd be happy to respond to any 

questions you may have. 

SENATOR HAINES: Thank you very much. 

Senator Ciesla? 

SENATOR CIESLA: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 

In order for me to understand perhaps a little bit 

better, I wanted to focus on a couple of the i terns that you 

mentioned in terms of the completion of the project relative to 

the Federal Clean Air Act, that I guess we've been so concerned 

about here in the Committee. You have indicated that if we 

were not able to achieve what you've done in terms of the labor 

agreement that you have, that we wouldn't be able to comply 

with the 1996 deadline. I guess my question becomes right now, 

based on your testimony, that the only labor unrest that I've 

heard of on the Turnpike to date was apparently three weeks 

this year? 

MR. GOLDBERG: That's correct. 

SENATOR CIESLA: And as a result of that, where are we 

in relationship to achieving the '96 necessary completions? 

MR. GOLDBERG: We are on schedule. Our present 

projections indicate that we will make that schedule. They 

also indicate that we have essentially no slack or float in 

that schedule. In other words, it will not take much delay or 

disruption, for any reason -- not simply a labor dispute, but 

for any other reason -- to jeopardize the completion schedule. 

In short, that's a very ambitious schedule. We have been 

driven to it for the factors I've given. We do not have a lot 

of room to make it, and that's part of our concern. We don't 
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know what the future is going to produce in terms of possible 

delays. Any kind of delay, not simply a labor delay, would be 

a matter of great concern to us. 

SENATOR CIESLA: It's my understanding -- and you have 

to excuse me for not having familiarity with all of the proper 

union vernacular -- but the disagreement or the labor unrest 

was with the -- is it the BTCT (sic)? 

MR. GOLDBERG: It was Local 825, I believe. 

SENATOR CIESLA: And that's the union that you've 

entered into the labor unrest agreement with-­

MR. GOLDBERG: That's correct. 

SENATOR CIESLA: --to give exclusivity? 

MR. GOLDBERG: That's correct. It's also the union 

that represents all of the workers on all of our existing 

construction contracts on the project in the widening 

project, I mean, as a matter of fact. 

SENATOR CIESLA: But it's not the union that the Harms 

contract -- Harms contracting firm normally uses? 

MR. GOLDBERG: No, it is not. Harms has arrangements, 

I understand, with the Steelworkers Union. 

SENATOR CIESLA: With respect to the Harms bid for 

work to be proposed, have they done work on the Turnpike before? 

MR. GOLDBERG: Harms hasn • t been a successful bidder 

on the Turnpike since I have been at the Turnpike. In 

addition, Harms up to this point -- up to this low bid that it 

submitted -- had not submitted a successful low bid on the 

present widening project. 

work for the Authority. 

chart that • s attached to 

However, Harms has previously done 

The work history of Harms is on the 

it. I believe they were awarded a 

group of contracts between 1987 and '89, where they did work on 

an earlier section of the widening from 8A to 9. So Harms is a 

contractor that has worked with the Authority. I want to 

emphasize the Authority's actions here were not predicated on 

Harms, or any position of the Authority that Harms was not a 

competent contractor or a capable firm. 
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SENATOR CIESLA: Mr. Chairman, I'm not-- I don't even 

want to get into specifics with respect to contractors or 

particular unions. My concern, quite frankly, is that when I 

reviewed the bids that were submitted, I saw a $6 million 

spread of public funds from, roughly speaking, $26 million to a 

low bid of $20 million that was submitted; apparently, by 

George Harms, which was rejected. My only concern is ensuring 

that as we make money available through the budgetary process, 

that all other public agencies are maximizing the use of their 

funds properly. So I'm more concerned with the policy issue 

and the issue of competitiveness now and in th& future, because 

as you correctly concluded in your remarks, :when you remove 

competition particulary competition among unions from 

effectively bidding -- it's at least my fear that we may ·not 

always have the most competitive price. 

But let me ask a further question, because I don't 

know that I got an answer about the amount of work that Harms 

had done. There was some amount of work that had been 

completed by the Harms firm on the Turnpike at some time in the 

past, and was there any disruption on those jobs at that 

particular time? 

MR. GOLDBERG: Not to my knowledge, I don't recall. 

No one has brought to my attention anything about a disruption, 

although I have to tell you, all of those jobs occurred before 

I was at the Authority, so I don't have any personal 

recollection. 

SENATOR CIESLA: So it's fair for me to at least 

understand that the low bidder on this particular project had 

worked on the Turnpike, and I would suspect that all of the 

Turnpike widening projects are in the multimillion dollar range? 

MR. GOLDBERG: Yes, I would say. Although some are a 

matter of a few million, and some are a matter of $20 million 

to $25 million. 
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SENATOR CIESLA: And is it fair for me to conclude, 

based on that, that the Harms firm was successful in completing 

the project on time and under budget? 

MR. GOLDBERG: I would assume so. I don't have those 

facts in front of me, but I would presume that they had done 

so. As I say, our actions weren't based on Harms or a concern 

or dissatisfaction with Harms as a contractor. So I mean, we 

don't -- we haven't focused on whether Harms is good or not. 

SENATOR CIESLA: And no-- Again, Mr. Chairman, it's 

not my concern about the individual contractor. I'm looking at 

the quality of work in light of the overall cost to the State 

of New Jersey and with the development, obviously, of this 

policy. One other i tern that you had indicated as the reason 

that you had believed a need for this particular project 

arrangement was that the environmental permit that was issued 

by some organization-- Was it the--

MR. GOLDBERG: The Army Corps. 

SENATOR CIESLA: the Army Corps? 

MR. GOLDBERG: But at this point, the EPA is--

SENATOR CIESLA: The EPA is administering the project? 

MR. GOLDBERG: --intimately involved in it, as well. 

SENATOR CIESLA: What normally would happen under 

Authority regulations in an ongoing project when an existing 

permit expires? 

MR. GOLDBERG: Well, it wouldn't be governed so much 

by our regulations; it would be governed more by the 

regulations of the Federal agencies. But essentially, if we 

can't meet the conditions or the time periods in the permit, we 

would have to go back to the agencies and try to renegotiate. 

But if we do that, first of all, it is up to the Federal 

agencies to decide what they will do. Secondly, it will open 

the Authority to the potential of revised or new conditions, 

which could add to the cost, or the complexity, or whatever. 

So we would be forced to go back and seek an extension of the 
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permit, and we would obviously have to take that extension on 

whatever revised terms and conditions the Federal agencies 

might choose to impose at that time. 

SENATOR CIESLA: Isn't it really, though, these 

particular permits-- Aren't they routinely extended for jobs 

that are underway? 

MR. GOLDBERG: Nothing is routine in the area of 

environmental permits. The best proof of that is, when I came 

in as Commissioner, I was told by a number of sources that this 

widening project would never be permitted; that we could not 

get the permit, and we would not be able to use the funds for 

it. One of the things that I take a great deal of satisfaction 

in, and I give a lot of credit to Don Watson for doing the hard 

work, is that we were able to process to completion those 

permits in a timely fashion. But the delay in getting those 

permits, which took, I think, like, five years, is one of the 

reasons why we • re confronted with a tough, tight completion 

deadline. 

There is no way that I would willingly reopen an 

environmental permit. If I have no other choice, then we'll do 

it. But trust me, I will not go back to those agencies unless 

we're forced to. 

SENATOR CIESLA: But based upon what you've testified 

before that your project completion date, according to your 

Authority projections, is on schedule? 

MR. GOLDBERG: We are on schedule, with little or no 

slack in terms of meeting that schedule. Of course, that's a 

projection. You know, this particular set of contracts is 

probably among the most complex that the Authority is going to 

carry out on the entire widening from BA all the way up to 15. 

I don't know how much time you want to take, but I could have, 

for example, Wally Grant, who is the Chief Engineer here, take 

you through the Southern Mixing Bowl. I think there are 

something like seven contracts that are going to have to be 
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carried out by different contractors in that stretch of two 

miles of road. It wi 11 take little or nothing, in terms of 

problems of any kind, to make it difficult if not impossible 

for us to carry through to completion that set of work there, 

because--

I think everyone knows the Turnpike. What we call the 

Mixing Bowl is that narrow stretch where from the north the 

western spur and the eastern spur come together, and the 

traffic crisscrosses and then goes down into the area where 

they're divided in the dual/dual section. That area right now 

produces more accidents than any other part of the Turnpike. 

In addition, it's an area where, in particular, handling ·the 

truck traffic is extremely difficult. 

SENATOR HAINES: Mr. Chairman, I hate to butt in here, 

but at this point I do think we're aware of the complexities of 

the situation that you're facing, and I do think we're getting 

a little bit off the subject. Now, unless some of the other 

Senators want to get into the complexities of this project, I 

think that we should go on and get back to the basics which the 

whole hearing is about, and the reasons for your decision in 

choosing one union over another. 

And, Senator Ciesla, are you finished? 

SENATOR CIESLA: Two questions. I just have two quick 

questions. 

The first one being -- and, again, I'm not familiar 

with the unions -- but with respect to the Harms organization, 

which has not been successful, do they, if you know, work with 

the BCTC or Building Trades Group at all? Do they have a real 

relationship, or is it they can't work with one another? I 

don't know. 

MR. GOLDBERG: Well, the Authority, in its September 

24, 1993 letter briefed to the Appellate Division, set forth 

that Harms has a corporate structure and union agreements 

specifically tailored to allow Harms the flexibility to perform 
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construction work with either the Steelworkers or BCTC as 

needed. It is our understanding that Harms, through its 

corporate structure, has the ability to work with either 

union. So to the extent that we know or understand and we 

are not, I guess, an authority on Harms -- it is really a 

decision of Harms as to which union it chooses to work with, 

for whatever business reason, you know, it exercises. 

SENATOR CIESLA: So if I interpret the answer to that 

question correctly, it's that they apparently have a 

relationship with both unions that they work together amicably? 

MR. GOLDBERG: That is my best understanding. 

SENATOR CIESLA: That is what I thought you said. 

Then the last quest ion that I have, and I want to be sure I 

understand this: Harms has done some work for the Turnpike 

Authority that was completed apparently without labor unrest? 

MR. GOLDBERG: I think that's correct. 

SENATOR CIESLA: However, as a result of labor unrest 

by the BCTC, the Harms • unions that are-- The Harms • unions 

are now precluded from doing work as a result of labor unrest 

by the other unions? 

MR . GOLDBERG : The selection of the BCTC means that 

the Steelworkers will not be in a position to do any of this 

work on the remainder of the widening projects, whether it • s 

Harms or whatever. 

SENATOR CIESLA: Okay. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 

Thank you, Mr. Goldberg. 

SENATOR HAINES: Senator Corman. 

SENATOR CORMAN: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 

Chairman Goldberg, I just want to start off by saying 

that I think that in the abstract, project labor agreements can 

be a useful tool. I think the Supreme Court decision in Boston 

Harbor was correctly decided. As to their application, there 

is, I guess, a cost benefit analysis that you had to go through 

to decide whether or not the Authority should adopt that as a 

policy. 
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As a practical matter, does it add to the cost of a 

project, but also something that -- and is that balanced out by 

the ability to complete the project more expeditiously? 

MR. GOLDBERG: Well, I think you, you know, put your 

finger in the area which is really the policy area, or for the 

Authority initially, but certainly for this Committee as well. 

There are trade-offs. If you've got a prehire agreement, there 

are certain advantages. But if you have a prehire agreement, 

there are potential disadvantages, I think, as Senator Ciesla 

was approaching. There is a concern which starts at the 

Authority that we not spend any more public money on this kind 

of construction activity than is required by market 

conditions. We fully understand that when we select one union 

as against leaving it open to competing unions, there is a 

potential that we could end up paying more. 

Now, in point of fact, in the particular contract that 

we've talked about here today -- the contact on which Harms was 

the low bidder -- there are a couple of things that we knew 

when we made the decision, and which we know now, after the 

fact, as well. One is, at the time that we had that bid before 

us, Harms was the low bidder, but there were several other 

bidders who were very close in terms of their bids. So it 

wasn't a situation where I had a bid from George Harms, and $6 

mi Ilion more was the bid of the second bidder. There was a 

$200,000 or $300,000 discrepancy. 

So we have had on the Authority an extremely 

competitive situation on widening contracts not because of us, 

but because of the economy. It's a tough economy. The 

contractors find it difficult to get good work, and they are 

all out there competing. That indicated to me, as Chairman, 

that while we were rejecting a low bid -- a bid which from a 

dollar standpoint might have been an acceptable bid -- that it 

was a risk that was not an inappropriate risk, given the fact 
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that it was critically important to the Authority to have on 

the widening project in its entirety this prehire agreement 

that I have discussed. 

Now in fact, we've rebid the job, so I don't have to 

speculate whether the 

because we now know. 

rebidding cost us more 

The rebids have come 

money or 

back in. 

not, 

For 

reasons that we don't know, the Harms organization chose not to 

bid. They could have if they wished, but they didn't. On the 

rebid we were able to award the contract for $600,000 less that 

Harms' low bid. So the rebidding didn't cost us money. It 

actually saved us money. And what's more, ther~ were, I think, 

three bidders on the rebid who came in below .Harms. So this 
' 

one contract in and of itself certainly does'n' t indicate that 

by designating BCTC we've lost control of the cost. 

Now it also in my mind doesn't guarantee that we're 

not we don't have the potential of getting higher bids in 

the future. There is, I think, a risk that if you have a 

prehire agreement with one union, that you may put yourself in 

a posit ion where you're going to be paying higher costs than 

you would if it were fully competitive. In this particular 

case, in my judgment, that was an appropriate policy decision 

for us to make, because first of all, we don't have a 

substantial exposure. 

let. So even if for 

We have only several more contracts to 

some reason those contracts are not as 

competitive as we would like, our exposure in terms of cost 

increase is not substantial. 

Secondly, this is an area that I think public agencies 

are going to have to deal with. We're going to have to go 

through it step by step, and we wi 11 have the advantage of 

seeing how the 

union may feel, 

that they are 

contractors. I 

union 

now 

in a 

don't 

acts. It is perfectly possible that the 

that it's got an exclusive arrangement, 

position to act unreasonably with the 

expect that to happen. I certainly hope 
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it doesn't happen, but I can assure you if it does happen, I'll 

hear. I mean, the one nice thing about our contractors is that 

if they're unhappy about something, we'll hear it. 

If, in fact, that does occur, as I said in my opening 

statement, that will influence the Authority in terms of what 

it decides about prehire agreements in other areas as we move 

ahead with our various programs. 

SENATOR CORMAN: So I guess it sounds like you're 

agreeing that there is a trade-off and--

MR. GOLDBERG: There certainly is a trade-off. 

SENATOR CORMAN: --there is a potential for a higher 

cost? 

MR. GOLDBERG: Yes. 

SENATOR CORMAN: But that's balanced out by a 

guarantee of labor peace that ensures a swift completion of the 

project. Is that correct? 

MR. GOLDBERG: I think that's a fair statement. 

SENATOR CORMAN: Okay, now just to -- and not just 

looking at this particular project, but looking at this as an 

overall policy, now anytime there has ever been any kind of 

proposal from the Legislature affecting any of the authorities 

-- not just the Turnpike Authority, but the Parkway Authority, 

and the At !antic City Expressway Authority -- any time some 

proposal has been made which might increase expenses to the 

Authority, we have heard from them almost every time. We've 

heard from counsels from the authorities that, "Anything that 

increases our expenses or diminishes our revenues impairs the 

obligations could impair our obligations to the bond 

holders." Consequently, that kind of a law would be invalid. 

Now, the question that I've got is, if it were the 

case that the Legislature were to mandate that all Authority 

contracts include a project labor agreement, would that or 

would that not violate the obligations to the bond holders? 
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MR . GOLDBERG : I' 11 give you my best opinion. As I 

believe you're an attorney and I'm an attorney, we all know 

that attorneys find it easy to have opinions on things that 

perhaps they shouldn't have, and I'm certainly no exception. 

But having said that, I don't hold myself out as the counsel on 

the question of bond covenants, but it seems to me -- you know, 

subject to my attorneys overruling me at some subsequent date, 

which they might well -- that it is within the competence of 

the Legislature to legislate on this issue for public agencies 

either way. It would be competent, I think, for this 

Legislature to make a policy decision as a matter of law that 

either public agencies must have prehire agreements or cannot 

have prehire agreements. 

I mean, the reality is, until March of '93, we pretty 

well assumed not because of bond covenants, but because of 

interpretations of Federal law that we really couldn't have 

prehire agreements whether we liked them or not. The Supreme 

Court finally answered that question as far as we were 

concerned in Boston Harbor, and it is our belief legally that 

we have the right to do it. This all followed from that. But 

where, I think, public agencies are really beginning to examine 

this area now for the first time--

For example, I asked so I'd have an awareness, "What 

are other public agencies doing?" I mean, you know, we're out 

there, I guess, kind of early, but we're not the only ones. 

The best information I have, for example, is that this issue 

has already been addressed in Bergen County, Mercer County, and 

Middlesex County, and that in those three counties they have 

already adopted prehire agreements. I don • t know the details 

of them; I don't know the scope of them. I think that they're 

just a precursor of what's going to be happening in most public 

entities. 

I think, therefore, it's perfectly appropriate for 

this, a Committee -- whether it's this Committee or the Labor 
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Committee, I mean, you pick that out -- to look at prehire 

agreements and to decide to what extent it is in the public 

interest either to permit them or not. But until the 

Legislature acts, and until we have direction from the 

Legislature as to what we can or should do, we're stuck with 

the obligation of dealing with the issue. We've done that. 

Now we've done it in a way that we think is 

responsible; we think it's limited; we think it's legal; and we 

think it was justified. That's our opinion. As you know, 

we're in court, and obviously since we're in court, there are 

people who have different opinions. Someday, you know, the 

court will tell us whether we were right or wrong. Although, 

at least to the extent that the courts have spoken, what the 

Authority has said and what the Authority has done has been 

upheld. The Appellate Division, in one of the cases, has ruled 

in our favor. 

But our effort was to face this issue, deal with it 

responsibility, and do it in a way that achieves something 

critically important to us; that is, getting that project done 

on time, and doing it in cooperation with what, in reality, is 

the union that's in a position to either help make that happen 

or make it very difficult for us to achieve that objective. 

SENATOR CORMAN: But the bondholders haven't taken the 

Authority to court, have they? 

MR. GOLDBERG: No. Again, the bondholders have their 

rights, and if anybody feels that we have done something 

inappropriate, they certainly have forums to litigate it in. 

The Authority's position would be if they did that, that what 

we did was legally correct, and that we did not take an 

inappropriate risk or expose them to any kind of substantial 

adverse impact because of what we did, because this was a 

rather modest impact on our overall finances. 
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I didn't do it to save money, or I didn't do it to 

spend money. We did it to try and eliminate a potential for 

disruption that could interfere with what is a high priority: 

the completion of the project. I don't think the money issue 

on the widening either way -- costing more or costing less 

is going to be significant. In that sense, I would really be 

surprised if anyone could establish, as a matter of law under 

our covenants or anything else, that the covenants really 

control what we do. The Legislature could. You pass a law--

SENATOR CORMAN: Okay, so there is at least one 

example of something the Legislature might mandate which would 

not violate the obligations of bondholders. 

MR.· GOLDBERG: Well, that's my opinion, subject to 

being overruled by my lawyers, who periodically do that to me. 

SENATOR CORMAN: Okay, but just to continue a little 

bit more, get to the specific one. The Boston Harbor decision 

came down in March of this year, correct? 

MR. GOLDBERG: Yes. 

to 

the 

SENATOR CORMAN: And it was at what time-- At what 

time did the Authority decide that this was a good idea, 

implement this on an Authority-wide basis as part of 

Authority's contracts? 

MR. GOLDBERG: Well, we went through a process. The 

process started pretty shortly after that decision. The 

decision came down on March 8. In April through June, the 

Authority staff, particulary the lawyers including our 

outside counsel, labor counsel were examining what this 

decision meant, and you know, how it would fit in with us. We 

had pretty well, I think, reached the point that we had made 

the policy decision to go with the prehire agreements at the 

Committee meeting that I mentioned in July. 

So, from at least the standpoint of staff and the 

Chairman's posture, the decision to go with a prehire 

arrangement probably had been made in July, and it was firmed 
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up at the Committee meeting· on-- I think it was on August 24. 

It was formalized by the vote of all of the members at the 

August 31st meeting. 

SENATOR CORMAN: Now, at what point in time was this 

particular project bid? 

MR. GOLDBERG: The project was advertised for bids, I 

guess, during-- It was advertised in June. 

SENATOR CORMAN: It was advertised in June. When did 

the bids come in? 

MR . GOLDBERG : Well, the bids came in, I guess, on 

August 24. 

SENATOR CORMAN: I guess the next logical question is, 

why was a project labor agreement not included in the bid specs 

that went out in June, as opposed to July? 

MR. GOLDBERG: I think the answer is pretty 

self-evident. The bid specs went out -- or the request for 

bids went out before we had come to that conclusion; Then of 

course what follows from that is the decision we had to make, 

and I essentially made it in terms of making the decision and 

then satisfying all of the members that my position was 

correct. I view that as part of what I'm stuck doing as 

Chairman. Having decided in advance of receipt of bids that we 

were going to require prehire agreements on all remaining 

widening contracts, in return for which we expected to get from 

the BCTC what we got, a commitment of labor peace on 

everything. 

I emphasize what I wanted was a commitment not on the 

three or four contracts we were going to award, but all of the 

preexisting contracts, because that's what counted. Given 

that, what do we do? Now, it was by one of these wonderful 

happenstances of life that on this job, where Harms either 

didn't bid or wasn't the low bidder, that Harms ended up being 

the low bidder. If he hadn't been the low bidder, you know, 

nobody, I guess, would be paying much attention. But in this 
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case he was what he was. He ended up being the low bidder. 

When that happened, I indicated to staff, as a matter of policy 

as I viewed it, that all of the contracts were going to be 

subject to prehire agreements; that this contract would have to 

be subject to a prehire agreement. 

However, in view of the fact that all of the 

contractors had bid on the specs as we had advertised them, and 

Harms had done that -- the contractor hadn't done any thing 

wrong with what the contractor had submitted -- we should offer 

to the contractor the low bidder, which in this case 

happened to be Harms, the opportunity to agre~ to do the job 

subject to the condition that we were going to jmpose; that is, 

that there be a prehire agreement. 

I dispatched Wally Grant to Harms, and my instructions 

to Mr. Grant were to explain to Harms what we had done and to 

make it clear to Harms that since they had submitted the low 

bid, we would honor that low bid provided they were willing to 

do what we were going to require; that is, to agree to a 

prehire condition; that if they did that, we would award it to 

Harms if he-- He was not obligated to do it. There was no way 

in which the Authority was going to compel him to do it. But 

if for any reason he was unwilling to do it, then both the 

staff and the Chairman would recommend that all the bids be 

rejected and that we rebid. The rebid now would contain within 

the specifications that particular requirement. So in order to 

obtain these jobs, it was going to be necessary for all 

contractors to accept the policy that the Authority had decided 

upon. 

As I mentioned, Harms made the decision, for whatever 

reason, that they would not agree to a prehire arrangement. We 

rejected the bids; we readvertised them; and we added in the 

readvertised bids the requirement for a prehire arrangement. 

SENATOR CORMAN: Now that happened in August, correct? 

MR. GOLDBERG: That's correct. 
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SENATOR CORMAN: Now, wouldn't it-- Why didn't the 

Authority say in July-- It was in July that, I guess, a 

preliminary decision had been reached to go with prehire 

agreements, and I would gather that the decision was reached 

that you were going to require it for all agreements, including 

the one that was out for bid. Why did not the Authority simply 

send out an addendum to those specs to all prospective bidders 

indicating that this was going to be a new requirement, this 

would be part of the specs? So this way, before the bids came 

in and before they made their bids, there would be a--

Everybody would know what the rules were before the bids came 

in. Wouldn't that have looked better, saved everybody a lot of 

aggravation, and prevented a lot of acrimony? 

MR. GOLDBERG: Well, that was not possible in my mind 

for several reasons: 

One was that the change in specification, with regard 

to prehi re agreements, presumed the adoption of an Authority 

policy. I considered that a significant action. I considered 

it an action that should not be done at the staff level. In my 

view, if we were going to do that, I thought it was appropriate 

for that policy to be adopted by all of the members. Given the 

sequence that I • ve already explained, that didn't occur until 

August 31. Therefore, for us to have presumed what the full 

membership would do in advance of their actually voting would 

have been, I think, an inappropriate action on our part. 

I would also add as a practical matter that I 

certainly didn't envision, and I suspect nobody else did at the 

Authority, that we would end up with the factual sequence that 

actually occurred. You have to remember that--

Where is the large chart? (ehibits chart to audience) 

--that up to this point in my limited experience at 

the Authority-- You know, we're all sort of captives of what 

we know. It's all right. We had awarded on the widening 
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contracts up to that point somewhere around 30 contracts. They 

all went to contractors who were working with BCTC, and Harms 

was not a player. 

There was nothing, I think, in anybody's mind, "Well, 

what would the situation be if we get a bid in August, George 

Harms turns out to be the low bidder, and George Harms either 

can't or is unwilling to sign this agreement? What would we do 

with that possibility, and what should we do to avoid it?" I 

mean, quite frankly, I wasn't that perceptive, and it was not 

something that anyone had focused on. 

But even if we had focused on it, I don't think that 

we could have acted any differently than the way we did. Quite· 

frankly, the idea of rejecting bids, while it's not 

commonplace, is something that occurs with some degree of 

regularity at all public agencies. The Authority specifically 

reserves the right to take such action when it's in the public 

interest to do it. So it was not a matter of, you know, direct 

·focus when all is said and done. 

SENATOR CORMAN: So it just never occurred to anybody 

at the Authority that maybe somebody might bid on this that 

didn't want to sign a project labor agreement? It just kind of 

was a blind spot in your thinking? 

MR. GOLDBERG: Well, I don't know that it was a blind 

spot in everybody's thinking or not. I can only tell you that 

in my involvement with it as Chairman it was not something that 

I thought of in particular. My focus was on the policy. But 

if I had thought about it, if I had thought about the remote 

what I would have considered the very remote -- possibility of 

that happening, it would not have influenced the course of 

events. Because if that's what was happening, we could deal 

with it. We could de a 1 with it exactly the way we did de a 1 

with it. We would go to the contractor. We would allow the 

contractor the opportunity the accept the revised condition. 
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We would expect that in at least most cases it would 

not be an issue with the contractor, because they all had 

agreements with BCTC, and therefore it was not going to be a 

problem. But if in the unlikely very unlikely 

circumstance that there would be a contractor, whether Harms or 

anyone else, that would be unwilling to accept that, the 

Authority was protected. It had the right to do what it ended 

up doing, and therefore it was not a focus or a concern of the 

Authority, at least as I approached the problem. 

SENATOR CORMAN: If you had to do it all over again 

and knew, and had some presentient notion of what might 

transpire, wouldn't you have -- wouldn't the Authority have 

adopted a project labor agreement policy either before the bids 

went out, or before they were opened? Wouldn't that have saved 

the Authority a lot of grief? Wouldn't that have prevented any 

allegations that are being made of favoritism one way or 

another after bids were opened? Wouldn't that, you know-- If 

you had to do it all over again, wouldn't you have done it a 

little differently? 

MR. GOLDBERG: Probably not. First of all, as far as 

the Authority is concerned, it hasn't had a lot of grief. 

We • re here before the Committee, but I don't define that as a 

lot of grief. We are in court, but I have found that I end up 

in court quite often, and I'm prepared to live with that. 

My concern was to act on this as quickly as possible, 

to come to the proper decision as quickly as possible, and to 

implement it in a fair and effective way consistent with not 

slowing down the contracting. The last thing in the world that 

I would have done would have been to hold back the rate at 

which we were advertising these contracts, because some people 

might misunderstand what we did. Some people might conclude 

that we did things for reasons that, in fact, were inaccurate, 

but in their minds could at least be the subject of 

conjecture. 
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So Mr. Grant, who sits back there (gesturing) has 

standing orders from me to do nothing to slow down the 

contracting. We'll deal with these problems as they come up. 

If I've got to deal with them, we'll deal with them in a way 

that minimizes any possible grief, complication, or delay. But 

I don't hold back contracting when I don't have any time to 

spare. 

SENATOR CORMAN: Okay. When you say you wanted to 

move this as quickly as possible--

MR. GOLDBERG: I mean the contracts. 

SENATOR CORMAN: You mean the contracts. You wanted 

to deal with them as quickly as possible. Why did you not want 

to move the policy as quickly as possible? 

MR. GOLDBERG: I did move the policy as quickly as 

possible. As a matter of fact, we apparently have the pleasure 

of being first. And so when I look around, with all of the 

other public entities I don't see that anybody has leaped ahead 

of me. So, if you • re asking me did we act pretty quickly, I 

think the record speaks for itself. We acted very quickly. 

You want to tell me, "Why didn't you act quicker?" Well--

SENATOR CORMAN: Why couldn't the policy have been 

adopted in July? 

MR. GOLDBERG: Because I was-- Why? Because we went 

through a process that, I think, we had to go through to 

determine what was in the best interests of the Authority. 

That process, given the demands that we have to do a variety of 

things, and the question of this one contract, I have to assure 

you was not the priority for the Authority during this period 

of time -- you know, limits the rate at which you can address 

issues. We addressed this issue pretty fast. I mean, I've got 

a March 8, 1993 decision of the U. S. Supreme Court, and I got 

an August 31, 1993 action by the Authority. You're 
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certainly entitled, Senato~, to your 

acted expeditiously or not, but I 

responsibly and promptly. 

opinion as to whether we 

submit we acted pretty 

SENATOR HAINES: Okay, Senator. 

I have a couple of questions for Chairman Goldberg. 

Harms has done some work in our area, and as I remember, my 

recollection of it is that they came in well before they were 

supposed to finish the job and did an excellent job. I want to 

ask you, Commissioner or Chairman -- either of you -- how Harms 

came in on the BA to 9 section of the Turnpike? Did they 

finish it on time? 

MR. GOLDBERG: Just a moment. 

Wally? 

wALL ACE R. G R ART: (speaking from audience) Yes. 

MR. GOLDBERG: According to Mr. Grant, they finished 

on time. 

SENATOR HAINES: Okay. The concept is here· that what 

you did in your decision-making here was to throw one union out 

in favor of another union. And why can't-- Why could not 

Harms have complied with your idea of a preconstruction 

agreement on the basis of the Steelworkers Union? 

MR. GOLDBERG: Well, that-- Because that would have 

been Harms' idea of what the policy would be, but it wasn't the 

Authority's policy. 

SENATOR HAINES: You picked one union over another 

here. That's what you've done. 

MR. GOLDBERG: That's right, and we picked the union 

that on this particular project -- and bear in mind that this 

policy deals only with this project-- We picked the union that 

had represented the workers on all of the jobs that had led up 

to that point. 

SENATOR HAINES: See, I know nothing--

MR. GOLDBERG: To pick the Steelworkers would have 

been mind-boggling. I would have been asking for--
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SENATOR HAINES: Mr. Chairman, why would it have been 

mind-boggling, when in fact Harms had done some work on the 

Turnpike using the Steelworkers Union and had done a 

satisfactory job? Now, I'm not trying to pick one union over 

another, or one contractor over another, but we are very much 

concerned as a Legislature here that we not spend more money; 

that we not throw out a low bid because somebody wants to pick 

a particular union. That's almost not only unconstitutional, 

but it's -- it doesn't seem to be within common sense. 

MR. GOLDBERG: Well, Mr. Chairman, this is obviously 

an area where people can differ, and from your comments it 

sounds like we differ. But let me finish--

SENATOR HAINES: Was the rea soh for this the 

commitments that the Governor made to a particular union, or 

was the reason for this that the Governor got a bigger 

contribution from a particular union? I'm asking questions 

here. I'm not trying to make a decision, but I'd like to know 

the answer to these things. 

MR. GOLDBERG: Well, the answer is really very 

simple. What the Authority did was not driven by or affected 

by whatever the Governor did or didn't do with the unions. Our 

decisions weren't dictated by the Governor's Office. We 

weren't doing anything on this--

SENATOR HAINES: Mr. Chairman, it seems that you made 

your po 1 icy after the low bid came in. You've stated that, 

that you changed your policy after the low bid came in. 

MR. GOLDBERG: Mr. Chairman--

SENATOR HAINES: Why did you change your policy after 

the low bid came in? 

MR. GOLDBERG: Mr. Chairman, I must respectfully say 

that there is absolutely no basis for what you've just said. 

Based on--

SENATOR HAINES: The--
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MR. GOLDBERG: Wait just one minute now. Look, I've 

spent a lot of time giving detailed answers here this morning. 

I went through a scenario which made it clear how we came to 

make this decision. I also indicated that I, as Chairman, at 

the Committee meeting on the morning of August 24, which was 

before the bids were in, had come to a final decision on that. 

I find that statement, that we changed our policy after the 

bids came in, to be not only without any foundation, but a 

statement I can in no way fathom. If you choose not to accept 

my statements, there is nothing I can do about it. 

SENATOR HAINES: Mr. Chairman, you said that if a low 

bid came in and it was not your union that you wanted, you 

would have changed your policy if it hadn't been Harms. Now 

you made that statement, and I heard you make that statement, 

so what's going on here? 

MR. GOLDBERG: Now, wait. Mr. Chairman--

SENATOR HAINES: You as much as said if the contract 

came in with the right union, regardless of who it was, that 

you would have gone ahead and awarded it. But what you did was 

to change your policy, which you would have done had any 

contractor come in with the wrong union. 

MR. GOLDBERG: Mr. Chairman, what I said is on the 

record--

SENATOR HAINES: I heard it. 

MR. GOLDBERG: --and it can be typed up, and I'd be 

happy to stand on it. But if there is any confusion, let me 

try and set the record straight. 

SENATOR HAINES: What we're trying to do, Mr. 

Chairman, and I hate to shout about this thing--

MR. GOLDBERG: If you're confused, I'd be very happy 

to set the record straight. 

SENATOR HAINES: What we're trying to do is find out 

what your policy is and why. It seems to be a peculiar-- It 

seems to be an unusual policy to go out and pick a particular 

union. 
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MR. GOLDBERG: And I submit to you, sir, that it's not 

an unusual policy. I think you're going to find even in 

Burlington County people dealing with this issue. I think that 

every public agency is going to have to make the kind of 

decisions that we have already confronted. I have tried to 

explain, and perhaps inadequately, the reasons why it was in 

the best interests of the Authority and the best public 

interests to make the decision to limit the widening contracts 

to the Building Trades Council. If you don't agree with that, 

I understand that. 

SENATOR HAINES: I'm trying--

MR. GOLDBERG: But I-- My difficulty is not that we· 

have a difference, because we all have differences. 

SENATOR HAINES: I'm trying to find out why, when--

MR. GOLDBERG: I have trouble with the suggestion that 

there was something sinister here, because I can assure you, 

Senator, that to the extent that someone believes there is 

.something sinister, there is no basis for that conjecture. 

SENATOR HAINES: I can tell you, Mr. Chairman. Mr. 

Chairman, I've talked to probably 10 different businessmen that 

consider what you did a very unusual act, and these are 

businessmen that have just read what was done in the paper. 

Now, what we're trying to do is get to the reasoning behind 

this: why you took the action and how you took it 

administratively. That's what we're after. 

MR. GOLDBERG: Well. 

SENATOR HAINES: I guess I've taken enough time. One 

of the other Senators wants to question-­

Senator Bennett. 

SENATOR BENNETT: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 

Mr. Chairman, Mr. Director, I'll try to be brief, but 

one of the things-- I'm not normally a member of the Committee 

and I'd just like to, if you don't mind-- We're talking a lot 

today about how contracts are awarded, how policy is set, how 
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the Turnpike takes certain actions. Could you go back for me, 

if you would, just to tell me how does the Authority operate in 

general procedures? How do you implement a policy? How do you 

do a contract? What procedure does one have to go through in 

order for a contract to be awarded? How does it get on the 

agenda, for instance? 

MR. GOLDBERG: Well, I-­

SENATOR BENNETT: Generically. 

MR. GOLDBERG: Generically? We advertise for bids. 

The advertisement, you know, sets forth what it's all about, 

and has a date on which bids are opened. The provisions set 

forth the circumstances under which the contractors are 

bidding. Those circumstances include: One, a recognition that 

the Authority has a period of time to decide what to do with 

the bid -- 30 days or whatever -- and that the bid is subject 

to certain provisions, such as the right of the Authority for 

whatever reason to reject all bids. When bids are received, 

they are opened in, I believe, a public session. They are 

recorded so that we know, and whoever chooses to knows who 

bid. The bids are then examined by counsel to determine 

whether the bids are in compliance with all of the requirements 

of the law, and 

specifications. 

the Authority's regulations and its 

The engineers also review the bids and the numbers to 

satisfy themselves that we have a responsive bid; that the 

contractor appears to have not only given us a bottom-line 

number, but has calculated it in a way that makes sense and 

hasn't made some kind of major error. We have found on a 

number of occasions that bidders who have been the low bidders, 

when they relooked at what they have given to us, have told us, 

"We made a mistake." You know, and whatever-- So the 

engineers try and satisfy themselves. There is a review that 

among other things compares the bid with our estimates as to 

what the bids might cost us, and how that bid compares with the 

remainder of the bids. 
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When that process is completed, the contract will go 

before one of the Authority's committees, along with whatever 

else there is, and those bids are reviewed and explained. The 

decision is made at the Committee as to whether this should be 

placed on the agenda for the next meeting. 

Now the agenda itself-- Maybe I ought to let Mr. 

Watson deal with that. 

SENATOR BENNETT: That's fine. 

MR. GOLDBERG: Because he does the agenda, and while I 

understand it, his understanding probably is more accurate than 

mine. 

D 0 N A L D L. W A T S 0 N: You're doing fine, Mr. 

Chairman. 

The Chief Engineer in this particular case would write 

a letter to the Executive Director indicating the status of the 

project, a recommendation, and it be put on the agenda. I 

would review that, and then schedule it for the meeting. It's 

not unusual in some instances, where the work comes in rather 

late, that the first agenda that goes out normally a week 

before the regular business meeting sometimes does not 

include all the items we subsequently have to deal with. We 

put out an addendum to the agenda, and those addendum then 

become also part of the meeting. 

SENATOR BENNETT: When you say the agenda goes out, to 

whom does the agenda go out prior to the meeting? 

MR. WATSON: To the Commissioners. 

SENATOR BENNETT: And only to the Commissioners? 

MR. WATSON: Yes, the Commissioners review it. 

SENATOR BENNETT: And only the Commissioners? 

MR. WATSON: Yes. 

SENATOR BENNETT: The agenda doesn't get sent to the 

Governor's Office? 

MR. WATSON: There is a member of the Governor's 

Oversight Council of the Authorities who attends all the 
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meetings and usually asks ~or a copy of it. Most times we get 

it to him the same time that the Commissioners have it. 

Sometimes we're a day or so late. 

SENATOR BENNETT: It's also made available to the 

public, isn't that correct? 

MR. WATSON: Yes. 

SENATOR BENNETT: So then it's available to the 

Commissioners, the Governor's Office, and the public an 

agenda approximately a week before the meeting? 

MR. WATSON: As close to as we can make it, yes. 

SENATOR BENNETT: So if an item of a contract that is 

scheduled to be considered on a meeting-- It goes through.the 

process that the Director explained, then it gets submitted 

from the Committee to you, and then you place it on an agenda 

to be distributed to those to the distribution list, 

whomever that might be, okay? 

MR. WATSON: Yes. 

SENATOR BENNETT: How about with a policy? If there 

is a policy that a Committee makes, or an individual 

Commissioner makes a recommendation that they want to have a 

policy established by the Authority, how is the procedure that 

gets to you and to the full Board of Commissioners a policy of 

the Authority? 

MR. WATSON: The policy normally originates with the 

staff, who develops the policy, whether it's about a sound 

barrier or whatever. That policy gets developed, reviewed by 

the Law Department to see if we have any legal problems with 

the policy, and then that policy gets reviewed by the 

Commissioner's subcommittee the Finance, Policy, and Law 

Committee. They meet normally a week before the Commission 

meeting. That policy gets reviewed by that Committee, and 

indications are made at that time either to move ahead with the 

policy, or to make some adjustments to it. Then that policy is 

brought forward at the Commission meeting for the full 

Commission to act upon it. 
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SENATOR BENNETT: Excuse me. Is it brought forward at 

the Commission meeting without ever going on an agenda? 

MR. WATSON: No. Following that Committee meeting-­

SENATOR BENNETT: Then it goes, how? From the 

Committee meeting to--

MR. WATSON: There is a decision to put it on the 

agenda, yes. 

SENATOR BENNETT: Right, and then is that in the same 

manner as a contract? Is that proposed policy then given to 

you, as the Executive Director, to be put onto an agenda? 

MR. WATSON: Yes. 

SENATOR BENNETT: And then is that a~enda distributed 

to the same people that the contractual agend-as are? It goes 

to the distribution list again, the Governor's Office, the 

public, and to all the Commissioners? 

MR. WATSON: Yes, that's the general practice. 

SENATOR BENNETT: And until a formal action of the 

Authority, the proposed policy is not in effect, or is in 

effect? 

MR. WATSON: It's not in effect. 

SENATOR BENNETT: 

payment of bills, isn't it? 

Thank you. 

MR. WATSON: That's true. 

That's true with even 

SENATOR BENNETT: That the payment of bills go through 

the same policy--

MR. WATSON: Personnel actions. 

SENATOR BENNETT: --and personnel. All of the actions 

from the agenda go to the full Commissioners the full 

Commissioners• vote to approve or disapprove what's on the 

agenda. 

MR. WATSON: That's correct. 

SENATOR BENNETT: And then when is that action of the 

Commissioners final? 
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MR. WATSON: It becomes final after the 10-day veto 

period that the Governor has. There are 10 days allowed for 

the Governor to act, and until those 10 days have expired, the 

action is not final. Except there have been instances where 

the Governor's Office has given advance approval, prior to the 

10-day waiting period exp~r~ng, whenever we have had a 

situation where it appeared that it would be the appropriate 

thing to do. 

SENATOR BENNETT: So that if there is an existing 

policy and there is a proposal to change an existing policy, it 

goes and requires the votes of the Commissioners, the full 

body, and then 10 days thereafter before it would go into 

effect, because the Governor would have the authority to veto 

it-- (public address system feedback) 

See, the administration is here again. (laughter) 

MR. WATSON: In general, that's true; that's true. 

There have been instances that I mentioned where we do get 

advance approval before the 10 days have expired. 

SENATOR BENNETT: And now we go back to, Mr. Chairman, 

when you and the Chairman were having, I guess, a disagreement 

as to when the policies were changed. I want to go back to a 

determination as to with the prehire agreements. Certainly--

MR. GOLDBERG: You said there was some. I missed part 

of Mr. Watson's testimony. 

SENATOR BENNETT: He just went through procedure with 

me--

MR. GOLDBERG: Okay, I--

SENATOR BENNETT: --what the general operating 

procedure is. 

MR. GOLDBERG: Okay, go ahead. 

SENATOR BENNETT: No, the disagreement was between the 

two Chairmen--

MR. GOLDBERG: Oh, okay. Yes, we were clearly having 

a disagreement. 
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SENATOR BENNETT: --that you were having, not between 

you two. You two were in agreement. All my questioning was 

generic, so that I-- I'm not thoroughly familiar with how the 

operation worked, and I wanted to know generically how you go 

through the different operations. 

Now I want to go, though, to the -- on the specifics. 

At some point in time -- I think it was August 24 or 25 -- the 

bids were opened up in the morning for one of the projects in 

the widening project. 

MR. WATSON: In the afternoon. 

SENATOR BENNETT: I'm sorry. Okay, in the afternoon. 

And the process of reviewing those bids began, as you set 

forth, that all bids do. But then, according to the 

documentation that's been furnished by the Turnpike, there was 

also some correspondence. There was a letter that was written 

by Chief Engineer Grant, who I understand is here today, that 

was written to Harms, who apparently appeared to be the low 

'bidder on the particular project in question. It said that 

with respect to the contracts on W-6411, that Harms must enter 

into a project labor agreement, "with the appropriate union." 

How could Mr. Grant impose such a condition when at this point 

there hasn't been a vote to implement a policy by the full 

Commission'? 

MR . GOLDBERG : 

following my direction. 

The answer is very simple. He was 

SENATOR BENNETT: Do you, as the Chairman, then have 

the authority to establish policy of the Authority? 

MR. GOLDBERG: As Chairman, one of my functions is to 

have a clear understanding of what the Authority will or won't 

do, or is likely to do. As a practical matter, I do a number 

of things in anticipation of what the members will do. As a 

practical matter, in this case, I certainly had, I think, a 

basis for expecting that the Authority would adopt the policy. 

So we-- That's not uncommon, and in this case, particulary 
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with widening contracts, while in theory you could stop and 

wait -- you know, wait until you adopt a policy -- in reality, 

particulary with these contracts, we didn't do that. 

SENATOR BENNETT: Mr. Chairman, with all due respect, 

in reality, I just had your Executive Director tell me what is 

the standard operating procedure. So clearly, then, if you, as 

the Chairman, are going to depart from the operating procedure, 

that is different. Now, I would like you to specifically 

inform me how you can anticipate what your Commissioners are 

going to do. Because I have been a Chairman, and I can assure 

you that when I am a Chairman of a Committee of legislators, 

there is no way in hell's bells that I can anticipate what 

they're going to do at any given time. 

So if you could enlighten me upon this: How are you 

able to anticipate in advance how the Commissioners are going 

to act; how they're going to change a policy; and in fact, how 

you can anticipate how the Governor is going to act? Did you 

have a conversation with the Governor on this policy? 

MR. GOLDBERG: No. 

SENATOR BENNETT: Well, my understanding -- and again, 

I'm new at this -- my understanding is that the policy has the 

opportunity when it's set by the Commissioners, it can be 

vetoed or not vetoed by the Governor. So perhaps when you're 

telling me now how you can anticipate how your members -- you 

anticipate what your members are going to do, you can tell me 

how you could anticipate what the Governor was going to do, who 

you didn't talk to. 

MR. GOLDBERG: Well, as far as the members are 

concerned, over the period of time that we were discussing a 

prehire agreement, the concept of a prehire agreement was 

something that all the members had a general awareness of, and 

there was no indication that I had from any members that they 

had any objections or unwillingness to take that approach. As 

I say, one of my functions as Chairman, to make this agency 
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work, is to understand what is going to be acceptable to the 

members or not. While I can appreciate that in some cases that 

may be difficult, I basically have a good idea of what the 

members will do, particulary if it's being recommended by the 

staff and the Chairman. 

As far as the Governor's Office is concerned: One, I 

had no conversations with the Governor on this. It is true 

that one always has the uncertainty, potentially, that a 

Governor may disagree, and the Governor does have a right of 

veto. He is, however-- My policy, having worked with five 

governors, and having served on the staff of a governor for 

more than 10 years, is to try and deal with the Governor's 

Office in a way that is least likely to create problems for us 

in terms of what we want to do. So while I did not talk with 

the Governor, I did brief some of the Governor's staff as to 

what we were doing. 

I told them what we contemplated doing, and that, in 

effect, put the ball in the Governor's court. My expectation 

would have been--

SENATOR BENNETT: What members of the--

MR. GOLDBERG: Wait a minute. Let me finish. 

My expectation would have been that if there was a 

concern, as a matter of policy, that what we were doing was 

going to be inconsistent with what other State agencies would 

be doing or the like, I would have received such an 

indication. I did not get an indication that what we were 

doing would be inconsistent. In fact, I had an understanding 

that the Governor's Office was looking at something along the 

same lines, and therefore, I was satisfied in my judgement that 

what we were doing was not incompatible with State policy. 

That could have been wrong, and if, in fact, the 

Governor chose to veto it, notwithstanding the vote that we 

took, it would not have been the policy. That would have led 

to a revision of the provisions in the contracts that had been 

rebid, and we would have made those changes. But I will 
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also say that in the 3.5 years that I have been Chairman of the 

Authority, the Governor has not chosen to veto a single one of 

the actions that we have taken. 

So, yes, you have to make certain assumptions, and, 

yes, I did make certain assumptions. I believe that the 

assumptions I made were proper and realistic assumptions, and 

events have proven them out to be correct. 

SENATOR BENNETT: Mr. ·Chairman, what members of the 

Governor's Office did you specifically discuss this change in 

policy with? 

MR. GOLDBERG: Scott Weiner. 

SENATOR BENNETT: With Scott Weiner. And can you tell 

me specifically when you had the conversation? 

MR. GOLDBERG: No, I can't, but it was before the 

August 24th Committee meeting. 

SENATOR BENNETT: Excuse 

August 24th Committee meeting, or 

meeting? 

me. You mean before the 

the August 31th· Committee 

MR. GOLDBERG: No, the August 24th Committee meeting. 

It was before that meeting. 

SENATOR BENNETT: Prior to the receipt of the bids? 

MR. GOLDBERG: Yes. 

SENATOR BENNETT: At any time subsequent to the 

receipt of the bids did you have any conversations with the 

Governor's Office, Mr. Scott Weiner, or any other members of 

the Governor's Office? 

MR. GOLDBERG: I don't think so. It's possible, but I 

don't recall any. 

SENATOR BENNETT: Although you had the conversation-­

MR. GOLDBERG: I mean, I had a specific meeting that 

dealt with, among other things, that the Authority was 

proceeding on a prehire arrangement. I wanted the Governor's 

Office to be aware of that, since we were likely to take that 

action at the August 31th meeting. I didn't want them to be 

surprised by it. 
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SENATOR BENNETT: But although you had no-- You 

had-- Well, now I don't know if you had a conversation or 

didn't. Although you didn't specifically have a conversation 

with the Governor, you talked to members of his staff. You-­

After the bid was received, you did or did not have a 

conversation? 

MR. GOLDBERG: I say I don't recall whether I had any 

conversation on any subject between the Committee meeting or 

receipt of bids on August 24 and the 31st. I can tell you 

this: While I don't recall with certainty whether I may or may 

not have had a conversation, I can tell you tt(at the decision 

with regard to rejection of bids, or the requi,.rement that the 

bid be awarded subject to the new policy, was a decision that 

the Authority arrived at. It was not a decision where anyone 

outside, whether the Governor's Office or anywhere else, sought 

to influence or affect. 

SENATOR BENNETT: But you authorized for Mr. Grant to 

send the letter that he sent to Harms? 

MR. GOLDBERG: I directed him to deal with Harms, and 

the letter was part of the follow-up to that direction. 

SENATOR BENNETT: And on August 27--

MR. GOLDBERG: He met with him. He did more than send 

him a letter. He went and he talked with him. 

SENATOR BENNETT: Okay. On August 27, Mr. Grant 

prepared the agenda which provided that the vote would be on 

the rebidding of the contract of W-6411, according to what 

you've given us that that was on there. How could that have 

possibly been prepared before you even know what Harms 

Construction's response was going to be? 

MR. GOLDBERG: Well, it's pretty simple. We were 

dealing with several possibilities, and we were prepared to go 

either way. 

SENATOR BENNETT: On August 30, Harms had submitted 

the letter back to Mr. Grant, and enclosed the copy of the 
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original letter asking that Harms agree to a project labor 

agreement. Isn't it true that Harms was subsequently informed 

that the only project labor agreement which would be acceptable 

was an agreement with the Building Trades Council? 

MR. WATSON: That's correct. 

SENATOR BENNETT: Who authorized that exclusive 

arrangement? 

MR. GOLDBERG: Look, there is a limit to how far I'm 

going to go with this. There is counsel here for Harms. We're 

in litigation. If, in fact, some court were to conclude that 

we did anything improper, Harms has his remedy. I've already 

explained--

SENATOR BENNETT: So does this Legislature, Mr. 

Chairman. 

MR. GOLDBERG: I understand it's Legislature, and I'll 

address any policy issue you want. 

SENATOR BENNETT: And I am trying to determine how 

you, as a Chairman, determine policy and set policy absent a 

vote of the Commissioner and the full Authority. I'd like t·o 

know the answer to that question. How do you do that 

individually? 

MR. GOLDBERG: 

circumstance and what--

That's based on my judgment of a 

SENATOR BENNETT: What law? 

MR. GOLDBERG: What law? 

as Chairman, and it's part--

I have that responsibility 

SENATOR BENNETT: Where does it say that you have the 

right to set policy of the Authority? If I am wrong, I would 

be happy to apologize. 

MR. GOLDBERG: I think that the Turnpike law, as 

written, vests that responsibility in the Chairman. 

SENATOR BENNETT: Well, with all due respect, Mr. 

Chairman, that's why lawyers disagree. Because you and I are 
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both lawyers, and 

authority to set 

frankly, I find nowhere that you have the 

or establish policy for the New Jersey 

Turnpike Authority. 

MR. GOLDBERG: Well, I--

SENATOR BENNETT: Thank you for answering the 

questions. 

MR. GOLDBERG: Oh, all right. 

SENATOR BENNETT: 

this witness. 

Mr. Chairman, I'm completed with 

SENATOR HAINES: Do we have comments, other questions 

for this witness? 

Senator Ciesla? 

SENATOR CIESLA: Only one confusion that I have. When 

Senator Corman had asked what I thought was a simple question, 

"Why didn't you send out an addendum, so that you could 

incorporate this prior to the bids being received?" You 

testified that there was no policy in effect which would 

authorize you to send out an addendum. Yet what you just -- in 

the colloquy that you went through with Senator Bennett, you 

testified that you could direct Harms to enter into this 

particular agreement because you could anticipate policy. 

of days? 

MR. GOLDBERG: Let me--

SENATOR CIESLA: Was your vision clarified in a couple 

MR. GOLDBERG: Let me try and clarify-­

SENATOR CIESLA: Please, do. 

MR. GOLDBERG: --what may be a point of confusion. As 

of the time that the bids went out in June, we were still in 

the process of deciding how to approach the prehire agreement. 

As I indicated, even as of the July meeting of the Committee, 

we were sti 11 at a point where at least the staff and the 

Chairman had not reached a final decision, although it was 

pretty clear at that point what we were likely to do. By the 

Committee meeting of August 24, both staff and the Chairman had 
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come to a final decision on that. We can have whatever back 

and forth we want about what is the responsibility of the 

Chairman, but I can assure any of the people here that if you 

ever end up being Chairman of the Turnpike Authority, first of 

all, be my guest. 

Secondly, I think that the abstract discussion of what 

the law does or does not permit is unrealistic. It is the 

responsibility of the Chairman to understand what's going on in 

the Authority and what the Authority is likely to do, and to 

act on that, particulary when we are dealing with critical time 

periods. Having come to the conclusion that we should adopt a 

staff to take certain actions prehire decision, I directed 

consistent with that occurring. Someone could say, "Well, you 

The 

have 

could have been 

Governor 

agreed." 

might 

wrong. You could 

not have agreed. 

have 

The 

misanticipated. 

members might 

Yes, I could misanticipate. And when I, as Chairman, 

begin to misanticipate regularly what my members will do, or 

what the Governor will do, I will no longer be Chairman. But I 

can tell you right now, I don't misanticipate very often. I 

understand pretty well what the Authority will or won't do, and 

that direction, therefore, was based on my judgement as to what 

will happen, and what, in fact, did happen on August 31. 

SENATOR CIESLA: So the answer to my question is, 

then, I believe, that the anticipation of what would happen 

with respect to the adoption of the policy was finally 

concluded in your mind on the 24th, the same day that the bids 

were opened? 

MR. GOLDBERG: Correct. 

SENATOR HAINES: Is there-- Are there-­

Senator Corman. 

SENATOR CORMAN: 

for me if you would, 

Governor's Office must 

Mr. 

Just to clarify a few final points 

Chairman. I would gather that the 

have been informed as to whether or 
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not-- . You kept the Governor's Office informed as to your 

deliberations on entering into project labor agreements. 

MR. GOLDBERG: No, that's not quite accurate. 

SENATOR CORMAN: That's not? 

MR . GOLDBERG : No, I didn't keep them-- I had one 

conversation in August, in which I advised, in general terms, 

the things that the Authority had under consideration that we 

were likely to act on, or might act on at the August 31st 

meeting. Among several i terns, I briefed them on the prehire 

agreement -- briefed in terms of explaining about the Boston 

Harbor decision that we were wrestling with it. We were moving 

to the point where we were likely to adopt such an agreement. 

It has not been my experience with the Governor's Office that 

they expect or intend to get into the day-to-day details of the 

Authority, or what happens in sequence. 

It has been my policy -- not necessarily even sought 

by them, but I feel it's in my best interests to do it -- to 

keep them advised on what I consider to be the major issues. I 

generally, you know, make the judgment as to what is a major 

issue based on my experience, and I thought the prehire 

agreement was a policy issue that was important enough to 

mention. Having said that to the Governor's Office and 

explaining it to it, and having had no indication at that 

meeting and nothing subsequently that indicated that the 

Governor would be likely to object to that if we chose to do 

it, we proceeded. We were not told to do it. We were not told 

not to do it. We simply briefed the Governor's Office as to 

what we were contemplating and doing. 

SENATOR CORMAN: Actually, my question regarding 

keeping the Governor's Office informed-- I don't mean to imply 

that there is anything sinister about it. I mean, I'm not-­

In fact, so you can just dispel any of that now, I know-- I'll 

ask the question, you can dispel it: You didn't get any calls 
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from them to check out wh_at bidders contributed how much to 

what campaign? You weren't asked any questions like that, were 

you? 

MR. GOLDBERG: No, and if I had I wouldn't know. 

SENATOR CORMAN: Right. Okay, so now that we've got 

that dispelled-- The reason why I asked the question is that, 

you know, Boston Harbor agreements-- As I said that before, I 

think that's a useful public policy tool. We went through the 

whole cost-benefit analysis, and I would think that this would 

be something that the administration as a whole might have a 

position pro or con. I don't know if Commissioner Bramucci has 

taken a position pro or con on Boston Harbor-type agreements. 

As of this particular-- Whether it be in March or up unti 1 

August, I don't know whether or not the Governor's Office had 

taken a position on that. I was simply curious as to whether 

or not you would keep the Governor's Office informed as to this 

new direction that a major Authority would be moving ·on. There 

is a representative of the Governor's Office at your meetings, 

correct? 

MR. GOLDBERG: Yes, there is a representative of the 

Governor's Authority Unit that regularly attends. The fact is 

that I did keep the Governor's Office informed. I believe, and 

my recollection is not as clear, that I had briefed the 

Governor's Office a month or two earlier that we had started to 

look at this subject. But, of course, the briefing would have 

been a more preliminary briefing; that is, "We're starting to 

look at it. We don't know what we're going to do." 

By the August meeting, we were pretty clear as to what 

we were going to do, and in my mind I wanted the Governor's 

Office to understand it was quite possible, you know, with 

caveats, that we would take action at the August 31st meeting. 

My purpose in briefing the Governor's Office was to head off 

the possibility of the Authority perhaps going off in the 

direction that was contrary to what the Governor would find 
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acceptable, because the Governor, as a matter of law, must 

review our actions and must approve them. That's the purpose 

of periodically briefing the Governor's Office on what I 

consider to be significant matters. 

SENATOR CORMAN: So when the Authority made their 

preliminary decision back in July that they were going to go 

forward with project labor agreements, there would have been 

someone from the Governor's Office there at that meeting? 

meetings. 

MR. GOLDBERG: No. 

SENATOR CORMAN: No? 

MR. GOLDBERG: They don't sit in o~ the Committee 

SENATOR CORMAN: Okay. So that wasn't the-­

MR. GOLDBERG: I haven't encouraged that. 

SENATOR CORMAN: So they hadn't-- Back in July, they 

hadn't had a clue that you were going to do--

MR. GOLDBERG: No. That's not true. 

there was an earlier discussion-­

SENATOR CORMAN: Earlier than--

I just said 

MR. GOLDBERG: --probably prior to the July meeting. 

SENATOR CORMAN: Okay. 

MR. GOLDBERG: Which advised the Governor's Office, or 

briefed the Governor's Office that as a result of the Boston 

Harbor decision, we were looking at the question of prehire 

agreements. The Governor's Office had an awareness. They 

didn't-- My experience has been that I tell them a lot of 

things and they listen, and that's it. 

SENATOR CORMAN: Some goes in one ear and some comes 

out the other. 

MR. GOLDBERG: I don't know what happens to it. Look, 

from my standpoint, if I told them, I've done what I'm 

obligated to do. 

SENATOR CORMAN: You did your job. 
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MR. GOLDBERG: After that, it's up to them. My 

position is really very simple. If I tell you that we're 

likely to do something and we do it, I don't want to hear 

anything about being unhappy about what we did. If you've got 

any problem with what we're doing, I'd like to know it in 

advance. That's my working relationship with the Governor's 

Office. Most of the time I don't hear anything from them. 

SENATOR CORMAN: So actually, before July you had a 

conversation with somebody in the Governor's Office briefing 

them that you were looking into project labor. 

MR. GOLDBERG: I had a conversation, I'm quite sure, 

with Bob DeCotiis at some point -- probably June. 

SENATOR CORMAN: Probably June, that you were going to 

look into project labor agreements. 

MR. GOLDBERG: Not that we were going to look; that we 

were in the process of, you know, following up on the Boston 

Harbor decision, and that we would at some point make some 

decision as to what to do with a prehire agreement. 

SENATOR CORMAN: Did he express any approval or 

disapproval--

MR. GOLDBERG: No. 

SENATOR CORMAN: --or he just noted it for the 

record. 

MR. GOLDBERG: He did whatever he did. I don't recall 

either DeCotiis or Weiner getting into substance, other than 

Weiner indicated that that was an area that the Governor 

himself was looking at; that he might do something in this 

area; and that what we were telling him we would do was not 

likely to be inconsistent with what the Governor might do. At 

that point-- As I recall, I don't think -- at least as he 

explained it to me that the Governor's action had 

crystallized in specifics. I don't even know that it 

crystallized, in terms of having made a final decision, that he 

would issue the Executive Order; that he would-- But obviously 

that was being discussed within the administration. 
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Again, my concern was a very limited concern: that the 

Governor's Office have an awareness of what we might do on a 

major policy issue, and that we, in turn, would have an 

awareness as to whether our actions might possibly run counter 

to what the administration might do. Because obviously, if we 

were going to do something inconsistent with general State 

policy, that certainly would be something that we would look at 

very carefully. 

SENATOR CORMAN: Now the Executive Order that the 

Governor issued, when was that issued? 

MR. GOLDBERG: Sometime after our action in September. 

MR. WATSON: September 13. 

MR. GOLDBERG: September 13, two weeks after we acted. 

SENATOR CORMAN: Okay. So after that, I guess it was 

the Governor's expression of approval of your adoption of a 

project labor agreement policy. 

MR. GOLDBERG: Well, if I wanted to look at it most 

favorably, you could say that. But I think it represented the 

Governor's decision as a matter of policy, as to what he felt 

should be the position of public agencies on this question of 

prehire agreements. He certainly didn't do that to approve 

what we did. He approved that by not vetoing it. He did that 

because that was his judgement as to what the general policy 

should be for State agencies in general. You know, as you look 

at them after the fact, his is different from ours in some 

respects, as it should be, but I think the two policies are 

totally consistent. They're not identical; ours is much more 

specific. We limited it to a given project. We tied it down 

to a specific union. His is, as I think it has to be--

SENATOR CORMAN: Broader policy. 

MR. GOLDBERG: --it's a broader policy. 
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SENATOR CORMAN: Did you have any inkling that an 

Executive Order of this kind might be coming down the pike? 

MR. GOLDBERG: Yes. 

SENATOR CORMAN: When did you? 

MR. GOLDBERG: When I talked with Weiner. 

SENATOR CORMAN: That was when? 

MR. GOLDBERG: Mid-August. 

SENATOR CORMAN: So in the middle of August, you had 

an idea that this was the way the direction--

MR. GOLDBERG: I had an awareness that the Governor's 

Office-- I don't know about the Governor. You know, these 

things, 1 ike on our level, are worked up by staff. I had an 

awareness that within the administration consideration was 

being given to the formulation of the policy on prehire 

agreements; that it might well be done sometime in the near 

future, probably by way of an Executive Order. I had an 

awareness that that was being considered. I also had an 

awareness that, at least as far as they were telling me, that 

the final decisions on the Governor's level as to what he would 

do, when he would do it, and whether, in fact, he would end up 

doing it, had not been made. 

So while this was being contemplated, I did not assume 

that it had been finally concluded, although it may have been. 

What was important to me was not where the Governor was in his 

process, as to whether what we were contemplating was either 

compatible or incompatible with what might happen on the 

Governor's level, because we did not want to do anything that 

would turn out to be inconsistent with State policy. 

SENATOR CORMAN: Okay. Now, just this last concern 

I'v~ got, and this is the one-- I spoke about this before. I 

just want to come back to it. The retroactivity of this policy 

being applied to a bid that had already gone out -- actually 

had already come back in, is it-- How many times in the 
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past-- At least how many times while you've been on with the 

Authority has a new condition been added to a contract after 

the bids have been received? 

MR. GOLDBERG: I don't know that I can answer how many 

times, but it is my belief that we have revised specifications 

periodically -- from time to time. This was not the only time, 

or an isolated incident. 

SENATOR CORMAN: So there were other times when specs 

went out, bids came back in, a new spec was added -- or a 

different spec was added, and the low bidder was told, "You've 

got to comply with that." 

MR. GOLDBERG: Now, normally-- What we did here that 

was a little unusual and, quite frankly, we did it-­

(laughter) 

The nice thing about being in court is that all of the 

other brilliant ideas that other people have-- They all have 

an opportunity to argue. But until we get to that point, let 

me just tell you that what happened here that ordinarily 

wouldn't have happened was not the rejection of the bid, 

because I consider that routine and well within the authority 

of the Turnpike. What happened here was my direction to the 

Chief Engineer to reach out for the contractor, and to give the 

contractor the opportunity that they would not have otherwise 

been entitled to; that was, to save their low bid -- which was 

an acceptable bid, in abstract -- by agreeing to accept the 

change in the specs that we were going to impose. We didn't 

have to do that. We could have simply rejected all the bids, 

and we could have not given the contractor a chance to, in 

effect, hold the low bid by reaching such an agreement. 

I thought that under the circumstances we were 

changing the rules; that while we were not obligated to do 

that, that it was an equitable thing to do. So the Chief 

Engineer, at my instruction, did talk with Harms, did make that 

offer to Harms, and Harms did what he chose to do. I thought 

52 



that was a fair thing unde~ the circumstances, you know, given 

the reason that you pointed out. Quite frankly, at the time 

that we did that, I did not presume that Harms would 

necessarily find it either unacceptable or impossible for him 

to make that change. I did that in the hopes that he would be 

able to agree to that, and in the hopes that we would save the 

low bid. Because while we were rejecting, and while, in fact, 

the low bid that we ultimately received was lower than Harms, 

that was not a guaranteed certainty. 

I would have been very happy for Harms to have had 

this job, provided Harms was prepared to do what the Authority 

wanted; that was, to agree to the prehire agreement along with 

all of the other contractors that were working on the job. 

SENATOR CORMAN: Just so I understand, in the event -­

we'll look at contracts in the abstract, not just this 

particular case -- in the event a particular job went out to 

bid, and while the bids were still out there waiting to be 

received it turned out that some new condition had to be added 

to the specs -- you had to use an extra quarter inch of asphalt 

or a different turning radius on a turn, for whatever reason -­

what would be the Turnpike's procedure? Would they wait for 

the bids to come back and then tell the low bidder, "Well, 

we're going to change this. We've got to have extra asphalt or 

a different turning radius"? Or would you send out an addendum 

and say, "Whoops, this is what it is, so make your adjustments 

accordingly in your proposals"? 

MR. GOLDBERG: Look, as we-- When there is time, we 

do send out addendums on contracts, and, in fact, on this one 

there was a series of addendums that were sent out before bids 

were received. From what I have in front of me, we apparently 

sent out six addendums to this contract, and that's not an 

unusual process. That's something that contractors understand 

they have to deal with in order to bid. The difficulty that 

existed in this case was that we -- at least staff and the 
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Chairman had not come to a decision with regard to the prehire 

agreement until the morning that bids were due. If we had come 

to this decision a week earlier, then we could have conceivably 

done exactly what you have suggested. We could have put out an 

addendum. We could have said, "There is a, you know, prehire 

requirement, and you're going to have to do that." 

The difficulty in doing that was: First, while I 

think as a matter of law, and as a matter of the general powers 

vested in the Chairman and the staff, that we could possibly 

incorporate such a policy without formal Authority vote, even 

assuming that was correct, it was my belief t~at this policy 

should be acted upon by the full membership,.· having decided 
f 

that the policy was not going to be formally 1 in effect before 

the August 31st meeting, or until the Governor had run the veto 

period. 

Now, under those circumstances there are a variety of 

things we could do. The bid came in on a Thursday. We had a 

meeting, I guess, on Tuesday. We had 30 days to award. We 

could have said nothing to Harms. We could have taken up the 

policy at the meeting, and we could have done the actions that 

we did. We could have rejected the bids because, as a matter 

of policy, the Authority would not award a contract without 

prehire agreements. We could have done that, and in fact, we 

did do that. What we did in this case was, however, to take an 

extra step to allow the low bidder an opportunity to save his 

low bid. 

As I've told you, we didn't have to do that. I 

thought it was fair, under the circumstances, to extend that 

option to the contractor, and we did. The fact that it didn't 

resolve the problem, I think, is unfortunate, because obviously 

if he felt comfortable with the prehire agreement, he would 

have had the contract and we would not have, at least, the 

litigation. I don't know whether I'll have a Committee meeting 

or not, because that's your call. But it didn't happen that 

way. 
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The point is that I was not prepared -- staff probably 

was -- to come down finally on the prehire issue until I had a 

chance to be fully briefed by staff. On the Committee meeting 

on the morning of the August 24, I got that briefing, which 

included counsel, included the engineers, and included Mr. 

Watson. That briefing didn't deal with the bids since the bids 

hadn't been received, other than to note that we had contracts 

that had been advertised and bids were coming in that 

afternoon. So we had an awareness that we were going to get 

bids. They would be whatever they would be. But the decision 

that we were going to impose a prehire decision, at least as 

far as the Chairman and staff, had been made that morning. 

SENATOR CORMAN: Now, the decision to impose the 

prehire agreement on this particular contract was made 

August 24? 

on 

policy 

morning. 

MR . GOLDBERG : It had been made, 

determination by the Chairman and 

SENATOR CORMAN: As of that morning? 

as a matter of a 

staff, as of that 

MR. GOLDBERG: It was made, as a matter of Authority 

action, at the meeting on August 31, and was confirmed by the 

Governor's acceptance of the Authority's action within the 

allotted time. I don't remember whether in this case it ran 

the full 10 days, or whether we got an approval in advance of 

that. I don't recall. 

SENATOR CORMAN: All right. So you, the Chairman, and 

your staff, I guess, anticipated that on the 31st, when the 

full Authority met -- when the full Commission met -- they 

would go along with your decision to impose the 

that there be a project labor agreement on this 

contract? 

requirement 

particular 

MR. GOLDBERG: Not on this particular one, on all of 

them. 

SENATOR CORMAN: On all, including this particular one? 
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MR. GOLDBERG: Yes, including this particular one. 

SENATOR CORMAN: Now, as to why it was imposed on this 

particular contract: There must have been some sense of 

urgency. You indicated that you wanted to get this stuff done. 

MR. GOLDBERG: There was a sense of urgency. 

First of all, in seeking to find out whether the low 

bidder would agree to the new policy, one reason that we 

undertook that was the fact that if that was acceptable to the 

low bidder, we would not have to go through a rebidding 

process, and that was desirable. To rebid the contract, while 

we were satisfied that we could live with that 30-day delay, 

given the mix and the way that these contracts were going to 

work, we could have avoided that time span. 

SENATOR CORMAN: Now, this sense of urgency that you 

had--

SENATOR HAINES: Randy, are you pretty well through? 

Because I'll tell you, if lawyers had to pick peaches, we'd 

never get any damn peaches picked. (laughter) Really, we've 

got a whole--

SENATOR CORMAN: I'm getting to the point, Mr. 

Chairman. 

SENATOR HAINES: --list of witnesses here to go 

through, and I hope you can--

SENATOR CORMAN: I'll wind it up, Mr. Chairman. 

SENATOR HAINES: Good. 

SENATOR CORMAN: I'll wind it up. 

This sense of urgency that you had, was that because 

you had reason to believe that there would not be labor peace 

if there was no project labor agreement on this particular 

contract? Did you have reason to believe that there would be a 

problem? 

MR. GOLDBERG: On the Harms contract? 

SENATOR CORMAN: On this contract before you knew what 

the bids were, or even after. 

MR. GOLDBERG: I'm not sure what would be-- I did not 
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have, I guess, as of that day, as full of an awareness of the 

differences -- at least in the minds of the parties -- between 

Harms, the Steelworkers, and BCTC. I had, probably, myself a 

sort of general awareness of that, but I certainly didn't have 

it to the extent that I now, you know, come to understand it. 

I did not have a sense of urgency about this contract 

and labor peace, in a sense that I presumed one way or another 

what would happen if Harms had gotten the job. My sense of 

urgency had to do with the timing of the awarding of the 

contracts. I knew that if we were going to impose this policy 

and have it as an effective policy: One, it should be 

retroactive to all of the other agreements, and therefore, it 

was of necessity limited to the BCTC. Secondly, that if we 

could not satisfy the low bidder, or find that the low bidder 

was willing to take the job in accordance with our policy, we 

would have to rebid the job. While I was satisfied after 

talking with staff that we could live with that, if I could 

avoid that delay, I would have liked to avoid that delay. 

SENATOR CORMAN: Okay. Let me wind this up, Mr. 

Chairman, if that pleases you. 

The questions that I-- I appreciate you answering all 

these questions. The questions that are still in my mind, and 

this is the inconsistency I see: If there was some sense of 

urgency that yo~ ,ad to have a project labor agreement on this 

contract in order to get this job moving, I could understand 

that. But if that were the case, why could the Commission -­

why could the Authority not have a-- Why couldn't they have a 

special meeting in order to adopt the policy before the bids 

came in, okay? 

If there was no sense of urgency-- If it wasn't all 

that urgent that there be a project labor agreement on this 

contract, why was it applied retroactively? That's the-­

Those are the unanswered questions that I see. 
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MR. GOLDBERG: I think I have really explained what we 

did. The idea of a special meeting was unrealistic as of 

August 24, because we -- that was a Thursday. By the time bids 

came in, that was the afternoon. We had a meeting scheduled 

for the following Tuesday. That was about as fast as we would 

put together a meeting if it was going to be an emergency 

meeting. The only way in which we could have eliminated the 

situation where it ended up with the rejection of the Harms bid 

was to have presumed that there was a high probability that we 

would get a bid that would come from a contractor who would be 

unwilling to accept a prehire agreement with BCTC, and to come 

to that conclusion, you know, well in advance of the August 

24th date. 

Now, by hindsight, that turned out to be the sequence 

of events as they occurred. But I can assure you that at that 

time, where Harms had not successfully competed for a single 

contract in more than 30 instances on the widening project, it 

was not something that was at least within my contemplation. 

Was it possible that he could be the low bidder? Obviously, 

because he ended up being the low bidder. Was it something 

that was a matter of concern or focus by the Authority, or by 

me? The answer is no. 

SENATOR CORMAN: So from your perspective the bids 

came in, but they came in wrong? 

MR. GOLDBERG: No, the bids came in fine. All I 

wanted was the contractor to do what every other contractor is 

prepared to do. We gave him that choice. He chose not to 

accept that opportunity. That was his right. He chose to 

dispute what we did, and that's also his right. His lawyers 

are sitting here listening to everything that I say in the 

hopes that all this questioning may give them a better shot at 

us in court. My hope is that I've explained adequately and 

correctly what we did and why we did it. 
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SENATOR HAINES: I~m not asking a question. I'll just 

sum up that at -- a decision was made by the Chairman that was 

arbitrary and not made by the full board until a later -- so it 

was a predecision; and that the Chairman didn't want Harms to 

get the contract for some reason. To say that he could go for 

a preconstruction contract and change unions in the middle of 

the stream is utterly ridiculous. It doesn't hold water. 

Anybody in business that would lay off all his workers and hire 

another group of workers-- That just doesn't happen, and I'm 

not that naive to assume that it could ever happen. If you had 

been fair and said to Harms, "Give me a preconstruction 

agreement with your current union," that would have been 

something that would have been a little bit different. 

Mr. Chairman, I'm sorry to say, but I think that you 

acted arbitrarily, and you acted for some reason that seems to 

make no sense to myself from a practical standpoint. But I do 

appreciate you coming here to this hearing, and I appreciate 

you being patient, as we all have been. 

We are strictly here to see whether we need 

legislation. Maybe some legislation will come out of this. We 

are not making decisions, obviously, because the Legislature 

cannot make decisions on this matter. 

We have a large list of people coming. Certainly 

Commissioner Bramucci has been more than-- He's been wonderful 

to sit there and listen all this time. 

I don't know really why we invited you at this, 

because I don't know that you're really involved. But, 

Commissioner, come forward, and if my colleague has some 

questions for you, I don't have-- I'd like you to stay for a 

little bit. I hope we can conclude this pretty fast. I know 

it's lunchtime. 

MR. GOLDBERG: Mr. Chairman, I will say briefly--

SENATOR HAINES: Well, let's hear what the 

Commissioner has to say. 

MR. GOLDBERG: I certainly would like--
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SENATOR HAINES: I don't know why he's here, but 

Commissioner--

MR . GOLDBERG : Let me just say that you and I have 

agreed to disagree, and I understand your-­

SENATOR HAINES: That's absolutely right. 

MR. GOLDBERG: Okay. 

R A Y M 0 N D L. B R A M U C C I: Mr. Chairman, it's a 

pleasure to be here. 

SENATOR HAINES: I appreciate you waiting, 

Commissioner. 

MR . BRAMUCC I : Well, thank you. I :guess maybe you 

wanted to give me an opportunity to see exactlY;where I've been 

backed up over the past 25 years trying to get on and off the 

15E. 

SENATOR HAINES: We need the road. There is no 

question. 

MR. BRAMUCCI: Yes. 

I've been asked, Mr. Chairman and members, to state 

the broad policy objectives of Executive Order No. 99. I fully 

support Executive Order No. 99. I think that at this stage in 

our economy and in our State the citizens of New Jersey are 

served by a broad policy of requiring policy agreements. 

SENATOR HAINES: Commissioner, I hate to interrupt 

you, but the one thing that I don't understand -- just as a 

layman, and I have no connection with unions -- I basically 

don't understand why -- and maybe I'm reading the thing wrong 

-- why do you have to pick out one union? Is there leeway in 

there for more than one union, Commissioner? 

MR. BRAMUCCI: The Executive Order No. 99 does not 

preclude any union--

SENATOR HAINES: Okay. 

MR. BRAMUCCI: --or state that as a matter of 

principle that one union wins out over another union. This is 

a project-by-project order that says where it serves the State 
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of New Jersey in terms of efficiency, cost, safety, it's better 

to settle things before you put the shovel in the ground than 

after. I think that for my policy, Mr. Chairman, looking at 

labor peace, looking at efficiency, and looking at the 

relationship between workers as an example-- In other words, 

if I didn't come here today, I would have been made available 

to work out jurisdictional disputes going on presently in South 

Jersey -- in the South Jersey Port. So it is a complicated 

issue that courts have had difficulty dealing with. 

In my experience, after 35 years in this business, it 

makes sense to say to a contractor who bids low on a contract, 

"You settle all this stuff up with your subs, and your people 

are going to work. Let's get this job done without any 

nonsense: no stoppages, no jurisdictional disputes, no 

arguments, no conditions, and whatever." 

SENATOR HAINES: Commissioner? 

MR. BRAMUCCI: That's what we've done here. 

SENATOR HAINES: Commissioner, under your 99 deal 

and I'm not -- that's not part of what we're here for today 

but under that agreement, could Harms have gone to the Turnpike 

and said, "We have an agreement with the Steelworkers Union -­

a preconstruction agreement with the Steelworkers Union," and 

that be accepted? Or is this-- I'm confused why that couldn't 

be done. 

MR. BRAMUCCI: Well, I don't want to comment on what 

the Turnpike did on that particular order, because it made a 

decision as to the best set of circumstances to do that job. 

But theoretically, in future biddings and future jobs around 

the State of New Jersey, with different instrumentalities and 

different Authorities, the issue is that the contractor and 

that contract with those workers is not categorically ruled out 

of business or out of possibility of being accepted. In that 

particular case, the Turnpike made its decision. In the long 
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future what we're talking about here is appropriate unions and 

appropriate employers that can accomplish the work efficiently, 

safely, on time, and at a good price. 

SENATOR HAINES: Okay. I don't think that this 

Committee is really reviewing your Executive Order. 

MR. BRAMUCCI: Okay. 

SENATOR HAINES: But I appreciate you coming here. Do 

we have questions, Randy? (no response) 

SENATOR HAINES: Thank you very much. 

MR. BRAMUCCI: Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. 

SENATOR HAINES: Thank you for taking the time. 

I'd like to have the gentleman from Harms Construction 

Company, George Harms. 

T H E 0 D 0 R E W. 

Is George here? 

G E I S E R, ESQ.: Mr. Chairman and 

members, my name is Ted Geiser. I'm counsel for Mr. Harms. 

This is Mr. George Harms to my right. (indicating) With your 

permission I' 11 intrude for only about four minutes on your 

·time, subject to any questions you may have. 

I see Commissioner Goldberg has left. I'm sorry to 

hear that, because I think he was wrong on some facts. I just 

want to cover them very briefly, because you don't want to have 

a hearing on it. 

Bids were taken on the 24th, a Tuesday, not a 

Thursday. Bids were taken in the morning, at 10:00 a.m., not 

in the afternoon. The document you have before you, authored 

by House Counsel for the Turnpike, Herb Olarsch, who I've known 

for many years, is dated August 24 and says, "Let's adopt the 

policy." 

I would suggest if any Turnpike people are here and 

say I'm wrong, please correct me, but I'm telling you .what 

happened. 

That was a Tuesday. Thursday Wally Grant, the Chief 

Engineer, called and talked to Ed Nyland, President of Harms. 

Friday, at the request of the Chief Engineer, who I've also 
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known for many years, a meeting was had. Harms was given the 

letter and attached proposed prehire agreement. The letter 

says, as you know, "You can sign this or we're going to reject 

a 11 bids." On Monday I learned about it for the first time. 

Seven o'clock a.m. I got a hold of Herb Olarsch. "Can I have a 

couple of days to consider it?" He said, "No, no time." I met 

with George Harms. That afternoon we sent it back signed. 

But of course they screwed up. They screwed up 

because they didn't say a particular union. So the next day I 

showed up at the Turnpike to see what happened. I had 

complied. Harms had fully, and said, "We'd be glad to sign it 

and have our union sign it." That's when I met in executive 

session -- you have the minutes -- and they said, "Oh, well you 

misunderstand me. It has to be this union." 

SENATOR HAINES: Let me ask you a question along--

Now, maybe I stuck my neck way out, but I-- If it was my 

employees that I had working for me, I would never lay off 

employees or ask them to join a union that they didn't want to 

join. 

MR. GEISER: Senator, you have it. There are a half a 

dozen of them here today who are represented by their own 

counsel, and--

There is a word, I think, that's critically important 

to this whole thing. I can't believe I sit here and listen to 

David Goldberg who I've known for 30 years and the 

Turnpike as a whole saying, as they have said in court and 

everyplace else, "We did it because we're afraid." 

Afraid of Harms? No. Harms is fine, responsible, 

finishes jobs on time: Five projects, $67 million for the 

Turnpike on widening since 1987, $400 million for the State of 

New Jersey in the last 10 years -- never late. Despite being 

regularly assaulted by Local 825 and others, that's all true. 

Local 825 has a reputation deserved for extreme acts 

intended to discourage conduct of which it disapproves, i.e., 
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not signing up with them. Fear. Here is a pusillanimous part 

of this executive branch of government that comes out and says 

without shame, "We're afraid of the other guys, so we gave them 

a monopoly so they won't hurt us." 

SENATOR HAINES: George, you want to say something? 

MR. GEISER: I'm ashamed of that. 

G E o R G E H A R M S: Yes, Senator. I have a couple of 

comments I'd just like to say. 

Obviously I was born here in New Jersey, grew up my 

whole life here, so have my two generations before--

SENATOR HAINES: And you've done great, great 

contracts. That bridge there in Bridgeboro is fantastic. You 

did a fantastic job there. 

MR. HARMS: Well, thank you. Obviously 825 has been 

after us for many years. We're in a five-year litigation with 

them. It's very unfortunate that after-- They can't compete 

with us. They don't have the ability to compete with us at the 

-- bid place to be low, to do jobs on time, competitively, 

within the right standards. They have to resort to some 

different tactics in order to come after us. I'm really 

appalled over it myself. I sit here just totally upset. 

SENATOR HAINES: Well, I think what we're trying to 

get at is the procedure that was followed. You know, it sounds 

like I'm a little bit on your side, but the point here is that 

really we're looking after the procedure. Because we, as a 

Legislature, can only deal with the procedure. Now, it seems 

to me that even Bramucci said that if you came in with a 

preconstruction agreement with your people, that it would be 

okay as far as the general government is concerned. Maybe I 

heard him wrong, but I thought that's what the man said. 

MR. HARMS: I believe that's what he said. But from 

what I understand of the policy -- and I have to look to an 

attorney for it, because it is kind of vague -- that we are 
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excluded. Our contract, our 200 people that have been working 

here for many years are excluded under that policy. That's the 

way I understand it. 

SENATOR HAINES: Well, we are not really going after 

the 99 administrative thing. That's another subject for 

another day. But the point is what we think is that there was 

an arbitrary decision made by the Turnpike. Why this decision 

was made on an arbitrary basis -- that is what we are trying to 

get at. 

MR. HARMS: Okay. I'd just like to make a couple of 

other comments. Over the last 10 years, the jobs that we were 

low on-- If we didn't exist, it would have cost the taxpayers 

another $25 million or 6.3 percent on just the fact that we're 

there. Our 200 people in our entire company have no place to 

go based on this deal with the Turnpike. They are saying, 

"Take your business elsewhere." 

SENATOR HAINES: The State of New Jersey has· said that 

to so many businesses in the last four years through 

overregulation, overtaxation that it is totally disgusting. 

How anybody could reelect this person who sits in the 

Governor's chair is beyond my wildest conception. (applause) 

MR. GEISER: May I say two things? Mr. Chairman, may 

I just say two brief things? (no response) 

Number one, anybody out of this State that was 

considering coming here was told, "If you come here, you know, 

you're going to have to sign a collective bargaining agreement 

with" -- I don't know -- "the State will tell you who." Forget 

it. 

Finally, this: Understand what the issue is. The 

issue-- I'm not going to 

Court will deal with that. 

discuss the lawsuit. The Supreme 

The fundamental difference is that 

in our view legally, in our view, we have lived for 

generations under legislation which says, "lowest responsible 

65 



bidder." That's legislation. Now, if that's to be changed, we 

think it's a legislative function, not to be done by edict of a 

Chief Executive. 

Thank you. 

SENATOR HAINES: Thank you very much. 

SENATOR CORMAN: Mr. Chairman, could l just ask? 

SENATOR HAINES: Yes, wait a minute, wait a minute. 

Randy, I didn't see your hand up. I'm sorry. 

SENATOR CORMAN: I just want to-- I'm very interested 

in a few comments you had made. It had previously been 

testified to, by the Chairman of the Authority, that it was a 

happenstance occurrence that they decided to adopt the he 
I 

decided to adopt this policy on the morning of August 24. 

MR. GEISER: Right, and the bids were taken in the 

afternoon. No, that's inverted. 

SENATOR CORMAN: Okay. You're telling me that the 

bids were taken actually at--

MR. GEISER: Ten o'clock a.m. 

SENATOR CORMAN: --10:00 in the morning? 

MR. GEISER: You know, I think Mr. Goldberg pretty 

much conceded he said, "Gee, I had no idea Harms was going to 

be low. My God, I was shocked." 

SENATOR CORMAN: And you also testify-- He had 

testified that your client was given an opportunity to sign a 

labor agreement -- a project labor agreement -- and they gave 

you a piece of paper. 

MR. GEISER: Yes. 

SENATOR CORMAN: You-- Now, they sent you something-­

MR. GEISER: The mongoose was given a chance to sign 

up with the cobra. He said, "Nothing doing." I have people 

working for me for 10 or 20 years who've been assaulted and 

spat upon by -- by the Local 825. I'm not signing with them, 

no. 
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SENATOR CORMAN: And now you testified earlier that 

they had sent you an agreement. 

MR. GEISER: 

reviewed it. 

Absolutely, twenty-six pages long. I 

SENATOR CORMAN: And you signed it. 

MR. GEISER: Said, "Fine, sign it. Give it back." 

SENATOR CORMAN: And then they said, "Oh, no. That's 

not the agreement we want you to sign. " 
MR. GEISER: Right. That agreement said, "Just agree 

to use union labor." Fine. 

SENATOR CORMAN: Mr. Chairman, all I can say is that 

these revelations are shocking. It indicates to me that ·the 

Authority has not been entirely candid with this Committee. I 

think that this is something that we'll have to deal with as a 

legislative -- as a matter of legislative oversight. 

MR. GEISER: We thank you for your time. 

SENATOR HAINES: Senator Corman, you're exactly 

correct. We haven't heard the truth here this morning. 

The next representative is the Utility and 

Transportation Contractors Association. Is there somebody here 

from them? 

STEVER E. BRA WE R, ESQ.: Yes, sir. 

SENATOR HAINES: We're losing our audience. 

MR. BRAWER: Story of my life, Senator. Thank you. 

Mr. Chairman, my name is Steve Brawer. I'm an 

attorney practicing up in North Jersey. I'm legal counsel to 

the Utility and Transportation Contractors Association. 

Sitting with me is Peter Getchell, who is President of PKF Mark 

III, a substantial contracting firm that's one of our members. 

Mr. Getchell is also a Director and Vice President of our 

Association. I'm really here pinch-hitting for Bob Bryant, our 

Executive Director, who unfortunately couldn't be here when the 

hearing was rescheduled. 

67 



First of all, I thank the Committee for the 

opportunity to appear. I'm going to try to be very brief, and 

allow Mr. Getchell to make some comments on some very specific 

points. This matter has been presented vis the Turnpike in 

terms of policy. 

First of all I think everybody should keep in mind 

that there already exists in this State a policy regarding how 

contracts are awarded by the Turnpike and virtually every other 

governmental agency. That's a policy the Legislature has set 

in numerous statutes which require award to the lowest 

responsible bidder. There is a specific statutory mandate 

affecting the Turnpike that requires award to the lowest 

responsible bidder. That's not lowest responsible bidder who 

affiliates with a union, or without a union, or any particular 

union. It's lowest responsible bidder. 

Now, our Association consists of about 950 firms, with 

the largest heavy construction trade association in New Jersey, 

·and the largest state association in the country. Over the 

years, we've been successful because we have maintained 

neutrality on labor issues. We have nonunion contractors; we 

have Building and Construction Trades Contractors; and we have 

contractors affiliated with other unions like the 

Steelworkers. 

So we are here not because of any partisan interest 

regarding Steelworkers, or Building Trades, or union, or 

nonunion. We are here because of certain principles involved, 

and because of some real impacts that they have upon the 

competitive process, our members, and ultimately, the public 

and taxpayers. 

One point that Mr. Goldberg made was that if the Harms 

Company had not, coincidentally, been the low bidder on 

Contract W-6411, I think he said, "Nobody would be paying any 

attention." Well, with all due respect, we certainly would 

have been paying attention, Mr. Chairman. Because our 
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Association immediately decided to take issue with the policy 

adopted by the Turnpike. We did it for a number of reasons: 

First and foremost is the fact that it represents a 

revolutionary change--

Let's be clear on this. The notion of conditioning 

award on the basis of union affiliation and particular union 

affiliation has never been implemented in this State before. 

It differs substantially with what the Legislature has 

prescribed in numerous statutes, including the Turnpike 

statute, where it says that award is to lowest responsible 

bidder. That has meant substantial savings to the public over 

the years because of competition. 

that, and it's really a polestar 

entire public procurement area. 

Our courts have recognized 

a guiding principle in the 

What we have here, unfortunately, I think, is a change 

by Executive Edict, which, if you will, a stealth policy, 

which I don't believe either the Turnpike Authority or the 

executive, in Executive Order No. 99, had the leg a 1 right to 

implement. I saw that because of an issue that Mr. Geiser 

referred to: separation of powers. A policy judgement like 

this, I suggest, rests with the legislative branch. It does 

not rest with the executive, because this is revolutionary. 

There is also a problem that we're concerned about, 

Mr. Chairman, regarding governmental process. We know now that 

consideration of this policy change was being given by the 

Turnpike going back to April. Over the years, our Association 

has worked closely with the Turnpike Authority, with the 

Department of Transportation, the Department of Environmental 

Protection and Energy, and other government agencies to have 

meaningful input on policies that affect the procurement 

process, affect our members, and affect the public. 

Nobody solicited our views in regard to this policy. 

Nobody asked what we thought about whether there was a need for 

this policy, how it should be designed, how it should be 
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implemented. We found out about the Turnpike policy on August 

30, the day before the Turnpike took action on the 31st. Our 

Executive Director immediately wrote to the Turnpike and 

requested objected to the policy and requested the 

opportunity to be heard. Needless to say, we weren't provided 

with that opportunity because the policy was adopted on the 

31st. 

Also, Mr. Chairman, make no mistake about the extent 

of this policy. I know it's not the focus of the Committee 

today to deal with this, but per Executive Order No. 99 and 

various activities that are being taken on county and even 

local levels, this wave is sweeping across the State. We are 

not dealing ultimately with just an isolated program on the 

Turnpike. We • re dealing with the very essence of how public 

contracting and procurement works in New Jersey. 

Now we have a new standard. We have disagreements 

about the standard itself. But minimally we suggest that if 

there is going to be a change in that standard, it should arise 

out of a legislative process -- a deliberative process -- where 

hearings like this can be held, where the public can be heard, 

and different views can be expressed and considered. 

There is also a very real, practical effect, and Mr. 

Getchell is really here to address that. One of the aspects of 

competition is not only competition among contractors, but the 

competitive balance that exists because of differing labor 

relations, differing labor affiliations. That translates into 

real dollars -- real significant dollars. 

There are other points that we can talk about 

regarding the Boston Harbor case. The New Jersey Supreme Court 

has deemed this case worthy of certification. They will make 

decisions on the legal points. But I think it's important for 

the Committee to hear about some of the practical concerns. 

With that, unless there are questions for me, I would 

like to introduce Mr. Getchell to you, hoping to give you some 
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real world background. I should also add, coincidentally, that 

Mr. Getchell's company is involved in doing one of the projects 

at the Boston Harbor. So if there are any questions that you 

might have about how that situation differs with what we have 

in New Jersey, Mr. Getchell can respond to you. 

Peter Getchell. 

P E T E R E. G E T C H E L L: Mr. Chairman, in addition to 

the many hats that I wear with the local Contractors 

Association, I also am a cochair of an organization that 

collectively bargains with the BCTC Trades in New Jersey. I've 

been involved in that for the past eight or nine years. The 

existence of open shop and other AFL-CIO unions in this State 

has afforded us the opportunity for some real advances in the 

collective bargaining process with the BCTC Trades. 

As a matter of fact, we consider it the cornerstone of 

our advantage. If you were in these negotiations without this 

competition, we would be very ineffectual in our ability to 

negotiate. We think our terms and conditions--

SENATOR HAINES: I hate to interrupt you, but I can 

say this: If I didn't have any competition in the apple 

business, you'd pay more for apples. (laughter) I mean it's 

perfectly obvious that we need competition. I agree with you 

100 percent, and I'm sure the Legislature does, too. We have 

competition to get elected to the Legislature. Competition is 

the heart of the whole American system. It seems to work 

better here than what they had in Russia. In fact, I think 

Russia may be coming over to our system because it has worked 

so well here. 

You're absolutely right. It just blows my mind to 

think that we would eliminate competition and do it in the name 

of the taxpayers. The poor taxpayer is going to pay the bill. 

Go ahead. I'm sorry to interrupt. 

MR. GETCHELL: Well, I mean, that's exactly right, Mr. 

Chairman. It does go to the bottom line, and the bottom line 
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is dollars. We have achieved substantial gains in the past 

eight or nine years in our bargaining with the BCTC unions. As 

a matter of fact, we consider them to be in the best interests 

of both the contractors in this State and the unions, because 

the people that I represent when I wear the hat of Chairman of 

the CCLE want to be union contractors. We leg~timately want to 

be that. 

Some of us worked in other geographical areas in a 

different mode, so we know what we're faced with on the other 

side of the fence from a practical standpoint. So our interest 

is not only saving money for the taxpaye(, but is also 

advancing the industry. These kind of projec~- agreements are 

not in the best interests of the industry. 

One other comment I'd like to make: There has been a 

lot of talk today about the widening project. I also happen to 

be doing one of the projects on the widening project, in 

addition to doing several jobs on the Boston Harbor. There is 

no comparison between the two projects, none whatsoever. The 

Boston Harbor Project on Deer Island is a $6 billion contract 

on about 80 acres of property. Every single person that works 

on that Island is transported either on a bus or a ferry. 

Every bit of material that is brought onto that island is 

brought on by ferry. 

The project agreement was arrived at with conditions. 

They not only incorporated the local union agreements, but they 

also neogiated some very distinct additional items that the 

local BCTC Trades didn't have: transportation issues, drug 

testing issues, grievance procedures, arbitration procedures. 

I mean, there was a direct effort to improve on what was 

there. There, in fact, was a certain amount of collective 

bargaining that went on. The project agreement, as I 

understand it, with the Turnpike doesn't include any of those 

things. 
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One last thing: The Boston Harbor agreement, that 

project is under Federal mandate by the courts. There is a 

Federal judge who runs that job, and he tells that Authority 

what to do and when to do it. There are no politics involved 

in it at all. They do it when they have to, and there are 

substantial fines that are imposed for not meeting those dates. 

SENATOR HAINES: Thank you very much. 

MR. GETCHELL: You're welcome. 

MR. BRAWER: Mr. Chairman? 

SENATOR HAINES: I guess there are no other questions, 

because I'm the only one left. 

MR. BRAWER: Well, all I can say in closing, Mr. 

Chairman, is that this is an issue that the industry views as 

perhaps the most important to affect it in the last 20 years. 

I think everybody should be clear that if George Harms wasn't 

involved in this case, the UTCA would be. So that Mr. Goldberg 

and the Authority have no misconceptions about that, we are 

prepared, and our members and our Board are ready to pursue 

this thing wherever it leads, both in the judicial forum, and 

ultimately in the legislative forum, because it's a fundamental 

precept that's involved here. 

SENATOR HAINES: Well, we will probably have you back 

and talk to you some more, because I think we need some 

legislation to clarify this whole issue. That's why we're here. 

MR. BRAWER: We will always be available. Thank you, 

Mr. Chairman. 

SENATOR HAINES: Morris Schnitzer, is he here? 

M 0 R R IS M. S C H KIT Z E R, ESQ.: Mr. Chairman and 

Senators--

SENATOR HAINES: I'm sorry it's taken so long and 

we've delayed you so long. I say, I'm sorry it's taken so long 

and we've delayed you so long. 

MR. SCHNITZER: I'm very willing to wait, and was 

interested to hear the proceedings. I'm the attorney for some 
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employees of Harms who are Steelworkers members, and represent 

them in the Supreme Court case. I asked to come here for 

several reasons, of which the first is that the policy on 

project labor monopoly agreements -- for it's in the character 

of those agreements to be monopoly, or they don't serve the 

proported purpose you've heard about is ultimately for the 

Legislature. I thought that it would help not only for me to 

make whatever points I have to you, but for you to see, in 

turn, the human face of the consequences of government action 

-- some government action -- in this case, the Turnpike and the 

Governor's Executive Order. 

Sitting to my right is Mr. McMullan, who has been an 

employee of Harms for over 20 year, I believe. 

W I L L I A M M. M c M U L L A R: No, 16. 

MR. SCHNITZER: Sixteen, and whose livelihood is at 

stake depending upon whether this policy is vindicated in the 

Legislature or not. I would also like his colleagues who work 

·at Harms, and are members of 

so that the Committee can 

audience comply) 

the Steelworkers Union, to stand, 

observe you. (members of the 

Listening to project labor monopoly agreements as a 

new approach, most everybody who spoke about it left out one 

indispensable element; that is, not only is a labor monopoly 

conferred on work on the project by a governmental 

organization, but that organization delegates to the designated 

labor organization the monopoly of selecting who may bid. You 

may not bid unless you have an agreement, but there is no 

public law that says that the trade unions must take all comers 

on equal terms. 

So you're dealing with a double monopoly. First, 

labor to be performed; but secondly and, I think, ultimately in 

your view far more important will be that the key to the door 

of public works has now been delegated by Mr. Goldberg, his 

colleagues, and the Governor to a private union, or group of 

unions. 
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Secondly, there is a dimension of this controversy, 

again, that nobody is mentioning today. Why is there such an 

important difference between the Steelworkers' AFL-CIO and the 

Labor Trades Council? Why are they so urgently persistent in 

having a monopoly by law, not by economic competition? It's 

just this: Every member of the Steelworkers, 

member is qualified across a span of trades. 

or nearly every 

They don't do 

just one job. They're capable of doing more. 

Council is organized entirely differently. 

The Labor Trades 

Every Steelworker 

finished with his work in one trade at 11:00 a.m. then proceeds 

to some other job. At the end of the day, he gets a day's pay 

for a day's work. 

The opposition -- now the monopoly by choice -- has 

featherbedding. Featherbedding is: You report for work. You 

do as much as there is available to you, then you take out a 

cigar and smoke it while watching everybody else work. You 

wait until the end of the day to get your pay for a half-day's 

work, two hours of work, or a full day's work. That's what 

this scrap is all about. That's the choice that the Turnpike 

deliberately made to foist on the State the cost of 

featherbedding, and they are perfectly willing to offer up as 

sacrifices the whole array of my clients. 

I'd like to share with the Committee two experiences. 

One, I was the first counsel for the Highway Authority. During 

my term of about three years, we put into use, or were on the 

verge of doing it, 140 miles, including the brief State-owned 

sections. It would have been totally illegal then to talk 

about prebid agreements. Nobody did. But the idea that we 

could build the Parkway under circumstances where bulldozers 

often arrived before the right-of-way people did, without even 

thinking or experiencing the necessity for project agreements; 

the fact that the Turnpike rebuilt it's road three times in 45 

years and never needed a project labor agreement till last 

August, I think, speak for themselves. 
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There is another experience I'd like to share, and 

that is this: I was at the 1947 Constitutional Convention as 

counsel for the Judiciary Committee along with Judge Comfort. 

While the restructuring of the Courts was the principle 

achievement of that Convention, second only to that achievement 

was New Jersey's decision, which still stands alone, to make a 

part of our Bill of Rights the guarantee that workers in 

private employment may organize and bargain collectively 

through a union of their own choice. 

The Turnpike and the Governor have essentially decided 

to deny those rights to my clients and to all other workers who 

aren't in the Labor Trades Council, and to do it in the face of 

the New Jersey Constitution. There is no such constitution in 

Massachusetts, where the Boston Harbor is located, or for that 

matter, as far as I know, in any other state. 

If the ghosts of those delegates to the Convention who 

claimed the new Bill of Rights as such a large achievement 

could walk and were here in this room, they would speak to you 

very feelingly about a Governor and an important public agency 

trampling on the work which went so far to make the 1947 

Constitutional Convention a precedent-setting event. 

Mr. McMullen would like to say something to you, too. 

SENATOR HAINES: Sure. Go ahead. 

MR. McMULLAN: As a 16-year employee of Harms 

Construction and member of the Steelworkers Union, I really 

can't believe what's happening to us. We're the most honest, 

hardworking, and competent company in the industry. I would 

invite any one of you to come out and watch our versatility and 

harmony in our jobs, and how they are done. I mean, you would 

have to come and see us to believe what we can do. 

We are all versatile, multiskilled employees. We are 

the cutting edge of the construction industry. There is no 

question about that. I guess to break the shell off the egg, 

Executive Order No. 99 -- the Governor brought into existence 
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in my opinion, was targeted at Harms Construction and the 

United Steelworkers, because the Building Trades really wanted 

us out of their way. And the only way-- The Trades just can't ,. 
compete with multiskilled Steelworkers. The only way for them 

to accomplish this is through campaign contributions to Florio, 

who, in turn, uses political power to sign Executive Order No. 

99. I guess with the stroke of a pen he could end my career in 

construction in this State. 

We completed our Route 24 Project one year ahead of 

schedule despite picket lines, constant abuse from other 

unions, and court appearances. We still received the highest 

quality paving award in 1993 for the State of New Jersey. I 

guess that should attest to our ability to complete our 

projects on time with high quality. 

Finally, the United Steelworkers are not just 

multiskilled and efficient, we're proud. We're a family and I 

hope we can remain that way. 

I thank you. 

SENATOR HAINES: Thanks a lot. I certainly appreciate 

your testimony. You're right on the money, and I hope we can 

help you. It's sad when an outfit-- Maybe Harms is just too 

good. Maybe that's your problem. You're doing too good of a 

job. Thanks an awful lot. 

MR. SCHNITZER: Thank you for hearing us. 

MR. McMULLAN: Thank you. 

SENATOR HAINES: Okay, Charlie Marcianti left, I 

think, didn't he? 

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER FROM AUDIENCE: 

(laughter) 

He gave up. 

SENATOR HAINES: Fred Palma? Is Fred Palma here? 

FRED PALM A, Jr.: Yes, sir. 

SENATOR HAINES: Do you have a few words? 

MR. PALMA: I sure do. 

SENATOR HAINES: Come right up. 

77 



MR. PALMA: I'll try to make it as brief as possible. 

I could be here all through, but I' 11 make it as brief as 

possible. 

SENATOR HAINES: Yes. 

MR. PALMA: My Name is Fred Palma, Jr. I'm a 

contractor, but I think I'd like to speak today as a citizen of 

New Jersey lifetime who is concerned about everything. 

But I'm especially concerned, too, about my children and 

everybody else's children and grandchildren down the line, 

because this kind of a thing would have a definite effect. 

What everybody has said from the since the Commissioner 

left, I have to agree with. 

I'd just like to tell you that the rlame of my company 

is Palma Incorporated. My father founded this company in 

1927. We're a flooring contractor. I've been a union 

contractor. I'm now an open-shop contractor. I've served on 

welfare and pension funds, and on legislative Committees. I 

work all over this State, all over the country. 

I am familiar with project agreements, how they exist 

now. If I can just share with you, how this thing works 

presently is that I'm an open-shop contractor. I go on the job 

even here in New Jersey, and the business agent will come to me 

and say, "Fred" -- or to my son-in-law -- "we have a mason that 

does your work. We'd like to put him on." We usually say, 

"Fine, as long as our man can work along with him," and we'll 

do that. This has worked very nicely. I do this in cities as 

large as New York, Philadelphia with no problems. 

Something came up here and somebody asked, "What is 

the real issue?" In hearing this testimony today, I think I 

know what the real issue is now. You have to remember when an 

open-shop contractor works, the fringe does not go to the union 

fund. The fringe benefit goes to the man that works for the 

open-shop contractor. The State gets fruitful reward for that, 

because I have to pay taxes on that i tern, and the man pays 

taxes on the item. 
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So therefore, let's look at the other -- the position 

of the other people and why they want this. They're losing 

revenue, very much so. I also have read earlier about the 

Mr. Bramucci wanting to delve into the practices that he 

considered illegal. He wanted to form a committee. Well, I 

sent out my resume, but I guess I must have been overqualified, 

because I haven't heard as yet. But you did mention here that 

some of these other people you'd be calling on in the future--

I'll go away now, but I will say this Committee can 

call on Fred Palma, Jr. I have an objective way of looking at 

this, because I will tell you, sir, that I am prolabor. I am 

for that working man, and he's got to be treated right. No 

matter who he works -- what union he belongs to or doesn't 

belong to, that's his right to work in this State. 

I really thank you for the time. 

SENATOR HAINES: Thank you very much. We appreciate 

your testimony. 

John Bishop, ABC Contractors. Is John still here? 

MR. PALMA: 

position paper. 

John is not here, but I can leave his 

SENATOR HAINES: That would be great if you could. We 

could-- I'll put that right into the record. 

MR. PALMA: Okay. 

SENATOR HAINES: Peter Getchell? 

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER FROM AUDIENCE: (comment 

partially indiscernible) --no. 

SENATOR HAINES: John Stevens? Jay Stevens, I think 

you're the last speaker. 

J. J A M E S S T E v E H S: I'm President of the United 

Steelworkers Local 15024. 

SENATOR HAINES: 

microphone? 

Can you get a little closer to the 

MR. STEVENS: Yes. I'm President of the United--
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SENATOR HAINES: Both. 

MR. STEVENS: These two? 

SENATOR HAINES: You need a black one and a white one. 

MR. STEVENS: Okay. I'm President of the United 

Steelworkers Local 15024. I'm very proud to be here 

representing George Harms and his employees, who are all loyal 

members of the Steelworkers. 

What we're basically looking for, gentlemen, is a fair 

playing field. We don't want to be legislative 

legislatively put out of any bidding process in this country. 

We always feel that, you know, the lowest bidder will get the 

job. The ridiculousness of the situation and the Turnpike just 

boggles my mind; that you can be awarded a bid on Thursday, 

meet all the criteria that the Turnpike gives to you, then 

Monday have it taken away from you just because you are not the 

politically correct union. We feel that they are trying to 

legislate us out of bidding work in New Jersey. 

I was very happy to hear the questions -- the good, 

commonsense questions that the Senator asked today. They 

represented a lot of the questions that we would like to have 

asked the Turnpike, but were never given the opportunity to ask 

these questions. 

I'd like to thank you for the opportunity to speak 

here. 

SENATOR HAINES: Well, I can tell you that they did a 

good job of dancing around, didn't they? 

MR. STEVENS: Yes. 

SENATOR HAINES: They didn't answer the questions. 

They didn't get to the truth. That's one of the difficulties 

we have. I think we've got a clear understanding here of what 

the problem is. I think it's very, very clear. I think what's 

been done is almost criminal. I just-- It just is not -­

certainly not in the taxpayers' interests to pull a stunt like 

this. 

80 



MR. STEVENS: Senator, one of the other things-­

SENATOR HAINES: And I can tell you, one of your 

colleagues back there said what I believe: "If you contribute 

the right amount to the Governor's campaign, you can damn near 

get anything." 

I appreciate you all for coming here, and without-­

Did you have something else to say? 

MR. STEVENS: The only-- As a legislator, if you 

would take a look at the Boston Harbor agreement, the cost 

overruns that have happened since the implications of that 

agreement, I think that you will see that they're costing the 

taxpayers a lot of money. 

SENATOR HAINES: Absolutely. 

MR. STEVENS: Thank you. 

MR. PALMA: I'll give them to you. I have them. 

SENATOR HAINES: All right. That would be great for 

our Committee. 

I appreciate you all coming. It's a tough situation. 

In talking to businessmen throughout the State -- talking to 

many people throughout the State, I think everybody that I've 

talked to knows what happened here. It's perfectly obvious to 

me what happened here. For some reason, the Governor -- and 

I've got to include him, because I don't think it was done 

arbitrarily -- the Governor and the Chairman of the Turnpike 

Authority did not want George Harms to get the contract. 

George, that's rotten. It's totally rotten. It's not 

in the taxpayers' interest, and you've done good work 

everywhere I've seen it. It's against the best interests of 

the State, no question in my mind. 

I hope the people will wake up to what's going on 

here. This alone should help us get rid of this I don't 

know what adjective to use -- but the guy that is the current 

incumbent. 

Thank you all. 

(HEARIRG CORCLUDED) 
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Chairman Haines and members of the Senate Transportation 
Committee. I appreciate the courtesies extended in the 
scheduling of this hearing so that I might attend. Recognizing 
that the Turnpike Authority is engaged in litigation in both · 
State and Federal courts on the subject matter of this hearing, I 
will seek to limit my remarks to matters of policy, as you have 
agreed. 

The Authority has supplied the Committee with all the 
documents it requested. This includes minutes of Authority 
meetings, agendas, resolutions and all the briefs and affidavits 
submitted in judicial proceedings. The legal and factual basis 
for the Authority's actions regarding project labor agreements is 
fully set forth in those documents. 

The Authority specified the use of project labor agreements 
for the completion of its 1990-1995 Widening Project between 
Interchanges 11 and 15E (the "Widening Project") to assure that 
labor unrest will not interfere with the timely completion of the 
Project. The Widening Project is on a strict timetable for 
completion by December 1995 for several reasons: 

• First, the bulk of the remaining construction is in the 
most heavily traveled and most dangerous portion of the 
entire Turnpike -- the Southern Mixing Bowl between 
Interchanges 14 and 15E, where more accidents have 
occurred than on any other portion of the Turnpike. 
For the public's safety, modification of this 2.1-mile 
stretch of roadway where multiple lanes merge, cross, 
and then separate into the westerly and easterly spurs 
of the Turnpike must be completed as soon as possible. 

• Second, the presence of construction zones is itself a 
concern. The longer construction zones are in place, 
particularly in an area as congested as the Southern 
Mixing Bowl, the greater is the danger to motorists and 
workers. Construction zones have the potential of 
increasing roadway accidents. Among other things, they 
may cause slowdowns that result in collisions; they can 
present obstacles that vehicles can hit, and they can 
divert drivers' attention. 

The Administration Building is Located at Exit 9 Where the Turn pike Interchanges with Route 18. 
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• Third, the Authority's environmental permit from the 
United States Army Corps of Engineers requires 
completion of all aspects of the Widening by February 
28, 1996. To meet this deadline and complete the 
required inspections and clean-up, construction must be 
completed by the end of December 1995. 

• Fourth, timely completion of the Widening Project is an 
integral element of New Jersey's efforts to meet its 
obligations under the Federal Clean Air Act to reduce 
air pollution by 1996. If the State does not 
adequately reduce air pollution by 1996, the State 
could forfeit hundreds of millions of dollars in 
federal transportation money. The Authority has agreed 
as a matter of policy to the use of high occupancy 
vehicle ("HOV") lanes between Interchanges 11 and 14. 
These HOV lanes should assist in achieving the State's 
clean air goals, but they cannot be implemented until 
construction on the Widening Project has been 
completed. 

• Finally, timely completion of the entire Widening 
Project is essential to improving the roadway's level 
of service. Until completion of construction in the 
Southern Mixing Bowl, which is north of Interchange 14, 
the Authority cannot open the new lanes under 
construction to the south, between Woodbridge and 
Newark. 

These are the major reasons why timely completion of the 
Widening Project is considered essential by the Authority. Let 
me also explain why the use of project labor agreements helps 
achieve this objective. A project labor agreement, sometimes 
called a "pre-hire agreement," is an arrangement whereby a union 
is designated as the exclusive bargaining agent on a construction 
job in return for assurances that the union will not strike or 
otherwise disrupt the job. A "project labor agreement" is a pre­
hire agreement that applies to all contractors on a given 
project. 

From the project owner's perspective, pre-hire agreements 
serve several purposes. Not only do they assure labor peace, but 
they allow contractors to pre-calculate labor costs, and they 
assure employers of a pool of workers. From the perspective of . 
the construction worker, the designated union provides job 
stability for the workers by acting as an employment agency and a 
collective bargaining representative. 

Pre-hire agreements are permitted by the National Labor 
Relations Act only in the construction industry. Generally, the 
NLRA forbids employers and unions from executing a collective 
bargaining agreement until the union achieves majority status by 
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means of an election. In 1959, recognizing that employment in 
the construction industry is short-lived and sporadic, Congress 
amended the NLRA to permit the use of pre-hire agreements in the 
construction industry. It was clear from the outset that private 
project owners had this right, but it was unclear whether public 
owners did as well. 

In the Boston Harbor case, decided in March of this year, 
the Supreme Court of the United States answered this question, 
ruling unanimously that a public authority charged with the 
cleaning up of Boston Harbor could designate the Boston area BCTC 
unions as the exclusive bargaining agent for all workers engaged 
in the cleanup, in return for a no-strike commitment for the 
duration of the project. (Building & Construction Trades Council 
v. Associated Builders and Contractors, 113 s. ct. 1190, 122 L. 
Ed. 2d 565 (1993)). 

After the Boston Harbor decision came down in March 1993, 
the Authority staff began to examine the feasibility of using 
project labor agreements on the remainder of the Widening 
Project. In fact, the Authority was analyzing the Boston Harbor 
case and drafting a proposed form of project labor agreement when 
a strike occurred on the Widening Project on July 1, 1993, 
following the expiration of the collective bargaining agreement 
between Local 825 of the International Union of Operating 
Engineers and various contractors working on the Widening Project 
between Interchanges 11 and 14. 

The strike continued for three weeks, until July 22. It was 
the longest strike in TUrnpike construction history. Several 
other unions struck in sympathy with Local 825. News reports 
indicated that the job action halted bridge resurfacing contracts 
in south Jersey, Parkway resurfacing contracts, and contracts for 
work on I-287, I-80, I-95, State Highways 89, 30, and 129, and 
monorail construction at Newark International Airport, among 
other projects. 

on the day the strike ended, July 22, as Chairman of the 
Authority's Law, Finance and Policy Committee, I met with the 
Committee to discuss possible implementation of pre-hire labor 
agreements. The Director of Law at that time recommended such a 
policy, as reflected in the attached memo of July 20, 1993. The 
committee directed staff to draft a proposed resolution that 
would require project labor agreements for the Widening Project. 

On the morning of August 24, 1993, the Authority's Law, 
Finance and Policy Committee again met and discussed the possible 
implementation of project labor agreements. At that meeting, the 
Director of Law renewed his recommendation that the Authority 
require all current and prospective contractors on the Widening 
Project to enter into project labor agreements. At the Committee 
meeting, the staff was directed to finalize the appropriate 
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resolution and to schedule the matter for action by the 
Commissioners at the August 31 meetinq. 

Durinq the afternoon of August 24, bids were opened for 
Contract No. W-6411. The low bidder was Georqe Harms 
Construction Co. Because of the Committee's decision to require 
pre-hire agreements for all Widening contracts, staff was 
directed to contact Harms and ask if Harms would aqree to the 
inclusion of such a provision in Contract No. W-6411. Harms was 
advised that staff would recommend the rejection of all bids 
unless the contract were to contain such a provision. Staff also 
advised Harms that staff would recommend the award of the 
contract to Harms as low bidder if the contract contained such a 
provision. 

Harms refused to accept such a provision. Upon Harms' 
refusal to accept a pre-hire agreement with the BCTC, Authority 
staff recommended the rejection of all bids on Contract No. w-
6411. 

On August 31, 1993, the Commissioners adopted Resolution 19-
93, requiring Widening Project contractors to enter into project 
labor agreements with BCTC unions. A copy of that Resolution is 
provided along with these remarks. Thereafter, a Resolution 
rejectinq all bids and readvertising Contract No. W-6411 was 
likewise considered and approved, as permitted by the Authority's 
regulations and its Standard Specifications. The Authority then 
rebid the contract with a supplemental specification requirinq 
the low bidder and all its subcontractors to enter into project 
labor agreements with BCTC unions. 

Harms' bid on Contract No. W-6411 was rejected, as were all 
the other bids on that contract, not because the Authority 
disapproves of Harms or favors some other contractor, and not 
because the Authority prefers BCTC labor to the Steelworkers. 
Bids were rejected on Contract No. W-6411 because the bid 
specifications did not contain a requirement that project labor 
agreements be entered into with the BCTC. 

At present, all the work on the Widening Project is being 
done by BCTC labor, and all the contractors on the Widening 
Project have collective barqaininq agreements with member unions 
of BCTC. Thus, BCTC is the dominant labor force on the 
Authority's Wideninq Project. In fact, BCTC has been the 
exclusive barqaininq aqent for labor on nearly all Turnpike 
construction contracts. 

Moreover, BCTC is likely to remain the dominant labor force 
on the Wideninq Project, not only because BCTC labor is already 
there, but also because all the bidders on these projects, other 
than Harms, have collective barqaininq aqreements with BCTC 
unions. As a consequence, the Authority has qood reason to 
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assume that successful bidders on Widening contracts would use 
BCTC labor even in the absence of the project labor agreement. 

As the dominant labor force on the Widening Project, BCTC is 
in a position to delay this critical project merely by exercising 
the unions' lawful right to picket or strike. Because of its 
standing among its sister AFL-CIO unions, even an informational 
picketing could cause sympathetic unions to refuse to enter a 
jobsite. 

The work stoppage in July 1993, which was a perfectly legal 
job action, threatened the timely completion of the Widening 
Project. Had a project labor agreement been in place, no work 
stoppage could legally have occurred. To prevent further work 
stoppages, the Authority elected to seek a pre-hire agreement 
with BCTC. 

In a project labor agreement, only one union or group of 
unions is designated as the exclusive bargaining representative 
for all workers on the project. In return for this exclusivity, 
the union gives up the lawful right to picket or strike. In this 
case, not only did the BCTC unions commit to no-strike agreements 
on newly awarded Widening contracts, but the BCTC unions 
committed to project labor agreements on the 28 previously 
awarded Widening contracts. This was an important concession by 
the BCTC to the Authority. 

It is true that the Steelworkers, with whom Harms has a 
collective bargaining agreement, have said they would sign a "no­
strike" agreement for any Widening contract. But the Authority 
has to be concerned with labor peace on the entire Widening 
Project, not just Contract No. W-6411. Without a grant of 
exclusivity to the BCTC unions, labor peace on the entire project 
cannot be assured. 

Moreover, the Steelworkers and Local 825 of the 
International Union of Operating Engineers have long been 
antagonists and cannot be expected to work without conflict in 
close proximity on the Southern Mixing Bowl, where the roadways, 
ramps and bridges flow next to and over each other, and work must 
be performed simultaneously or in close sequence. 

Because the contracts in the Southern Mixing Bowl are 
tightly integrated physically and in terms of scheduling, 
tremendous coordination is necessary among the contractors. For 
example, workers on adjacent contracts must coordinate lane 
closings, and they must coordinate work on elevated structures 
with work that goes on below under separate contracts. If 
critical dates on Contract No. W-6411-1 are missed, the entire 
schedule for completion of the Southern Mixing Bowl will fall 
behind. 
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Given the well-known antagonism of the Steelworkers and 
Local 825, the Authority does not wish the timely completion of 
the Widening Project to depend on cooperation between these 
unions. 

Some concern was expressed that the Authority might pay more 
by rejecting all bids on Contract No. W-6411-1 ana by requiring 
project labor agreements on the remaining Widening contracts. 
That has not been the case. On the rebid of Contract No. W-6411, 
the low bid of $19,833,985.90, by G. Bishop/J. Sanzari Joint 
Venture, was more than $630,000 less than Harms' previous low bid 
of $20,464,360.06. Indeed, three of the bids on the rebid were 
lower than Harms' original low bid. Moreover, the low bid of 
$26,500,000 on contract No. W-6421, which requires a project 
labor agreement, was more than $10 million below the Engineer's 
estimate. Harms did not bid on this contract, nor-did Harms bid 
on the rebid of Contract No. W-6411. 

I 

Harms has been neither a frequent bidder nor, in all cases. 
but one, a low bidder on Widening contracts. Authority records 
indicate that of 33 contracts awarded thus far for the widening 
of the roadway between Interchanges 11 and 15E, Harms bid on only 
six of them and was the low bidder on only one such contract, 
namely, Contract No. W-6411, on which all bids were rejected. A 
chart of the bidding history on Widening contracts is being 
submitted with these remarks. 

on two of the contracts where Harms bid, Harms was not the 
lowest, but in fact the highest bidder. On two other contracts, 
Harms was, respectively, 13th and 16th out of 18 bidders. Thus, 
Harms has not been an active bidder on the Widening Project, and 
the Authority has no reason to believe that the cost of the 
Widening Project will increase if Harms chooses not to bid on 
subsequently advertised Widening contracts. 

In Chairman Haines' letter of October 15, the Chairman 
indicated that the Committee is interested in the relationship of 
the Governor's Executive Order 99 and the Authority's Resolutions 
requiring project labor agreements. The Authority did not look 
to Executive Order 99 as the source of its authority to issue 
Resolutions regarding project labor agreements. Executive Order 
99 was promulgated on September 13, two weeks after the Authority 
issued its Resolutions regarding project labor agreements. 
However, the Authority did act consistently with Executive Order 
99, as stated in the Authority's supplemental specifications 
regarding project labor agreements. 

Executive Order 99 does not specify the selection of any 
particular union or group of unions for project labor agreements, 
nor does it preclude the selection of any particular union or 
group of unions. Executive Order 99 directs that State agencies 
and independent authorities use project labor agreements 
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"whenever feasible," but only when such agreements substantially 
advance the interests of the State, including the interests of 
cost, efficiency, quality, safety, timeliness, and the state's 
policy regarding minority-and-women-owned businesses as set forth 
in Executive Order No. 84. The Authority's decision to use 
project labor agreements clearly advances the foregoing 
interests. 

CONCLUSION 

The requirement of project labor agreements for the Widening 
Project is not a blanket policy. At present, the requirement is 
strictly limited to the Authority's 1990-1995 Widening Project, 
on which only two substantial contracts remain to be bid. The 
Authority will carefully review its experience with project labor 
agreements to ascertain whether any adverse economic effects 
result during the life of the Project, and whether the Authority 
should use such agreements in the future. No decision to use 
project labor agreements on other Turnpike projects will be made 
without thorough review and consideration by the Commissioners. 

At this time, I am prepared to answer any questions you may 
have. 
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MEMORANDUM TO: DONALD L. WATSON 
Executive Director 

July 20, 1993 

RE: Pre-Hire Agreements - Supreme Court Ruling 
Implications for the Authority 

On Thursday, July 22, 1993, Lester Aaron, Esq. from General 
Counsel's Office will be briefing Commissioner Goldberg on the 
implications for the Authority of the recent Supreme Court case 
which focused on pre-hire agreements (herein after referred to as 
the Massachusetts Case"). Attached are copies of the case- 1. 
Metropolitan District v. Associated Builders and Contractors of 
Massachusetts/Rhode Island, Inc. et al.; 2. Legal Analysis by 
Lester Aaron, Esq., dated May 17, 1993 and 3. Proposed Agreement 
drafted by Schwartz, Tobia & Stanziale. 

Pursuant to the Massachusetts Case, the Supreme Court held 
that an independent government agency, could, through its Project 
Manager, enter into a pre-hire agreement with the Building and 
Con~truction Trades Council and affiliated organizations that 
would assure labor stability over the life of a given project. 
Specifically, an arrangement was upheld in which the Massachusetts 
water Resources Authority agreed to specify union labor for a 
project to clean up the Boston Harbor, and in return, the union 
agreed to a 10-year no-strike commitment. 

The Massachusetts Case permits the Authority to enter into a 
similar pre-hire agreement. Even within the confines of our pub­
lic bidding laws, the Authority would be able to enforce a valid 
pre-hire agreement in a construction project, either directly or 
through an intermediary via bid specifications. Furthermore, any 
state legislation attempting to impinge upon this authority would 
be pre-~mpted and unenforceable. 

General Counsel has recommended that, in order to avoid 
legal challenge by our contractors to such an agreement, the 
agreement should be structured in a manner similar to the one in 
the Massachusetts Case. Accordingly, the pre-hire agreement may 
be executed by our outside engineers charged with overall super­
vision of the project, in conjunction with the labor organization, 
and may then be incorporated into the bid specifications. Thus, 
although the agreement is on behalf of the Authority, the involve­
ment of an employer in the construction industry as a party to the 
actual agreement will assure protection under the ~in accord-
ance with the Supreme Court ruling. ~ 

HIO/aw 
cc: Andrea E. Ward 
Enc. 

Herbert I. Olarsch 
Director or Law 



C/M AUG 3 1 199]1 

19-93 

RESOLUTION REQUIRING CONTRACTORS 
TO ENTER INTO PROJECT AGREEftENTS 

WITH LABOR UNIONS 

1 7 0 3 1 

WHEREAS, the prevention or prompt settlement of labor 
disputes in the public sector is the declared policy of the State 
of New Jersey, N.J.S.A. 34:13A-2; and 

WHEREAS, the New Jersey Turnpike Authority ("Authority") 
recognizes the need to secure labor stability and to promote 
harmonious labor-management relations in order to further its 
policy of completing projects on time and on-budget; and 

WHEREAS, the Authority is authorized under law to require the 
execution of a project labor agreement as a condition of award of 
construction contracts in order to secure labor stability and to 
promote labor-management harmony; and 

WHEREAS, a project labor agreement is an agreement that 
recognizes designated unions as the exclusive bargaining 
representatives for all construction and craft employees, in 
exchange for the stipulation that there be no work stoppages, 
slowdowns, or disruptions during the life of the construction 
contract to which it applies, and which, therefore, contribwtes to 
a spirit of harmony, labor-management peace and stability during 
the life of that contract; and 

WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the Authority and the 
public to secure labor stability on construction projects by 
requ1r1ng its contractors to enter into project laQor agreements 
with unions on a project by project basis; and 

WHEREAS, the Authority has recently experienced labor 
disturbances namely work stoppages, that may cause delays and 
increased costs in the performance of the affected contracts; and 

WHEREAS, in consideration of the critical nature of timely 
completion of the 1990-95 Widening Project - Interchange 11, 
Woodbridge To~~ship, ftiddlesex County to Interchange 15E, City of 
Newark, Essex County (the "Widening Project") and the recent labor 
disruption affecting the Widaning Prcject, it is in the best 
interest of the Authority to implement the use of project labor 
agreements with respect to all construction contracts awarded 
heretofore and hereafter as part of the Widening Project; 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that, for the f9regoing 
reasons, as a condition of all contracts heretofore and hereafter 
advertised by the New Jersey Turnpike Authority in connection with 
the Widening Project, the Chief Engineer shall require contractors 
and subcontractors of all levels to enter into project labor 
agreements with the appropriate affiliated locals of the Building 
and Construction Trades Council of the AFL-CIO of the State of New 
Jersey, substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A. 
The Chief Engineer is hereby authorized to issue supplemental bid 
specifications in such form as he and the Director of Law may deem 
proper and necessary to carry out this policy. 
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EXHIBIT A 

NEW JERSEY TURNPIKE AUTHORITY 

SUPPLEMENTAL SPECIFICATIONS 
PROJECT LABOR AGREEMENT 

104.06 contractor's Organization 

I - 0 3 

Insert after first sentence: "Each successful Bidder and all 
levels of subcontractors,. as a condition of being awarded the 
Contract or any subcontract, shall execute and abide by the 
provisions of the Project Labor Agreement, and will be bound by the 
provisions of that agreement in the same manner as any other 
provision of this Contract." 

Insert at end of first paragraph: "In addition to any other 
technical, educational or other qualifications that may apply, a 
worker shall be deemed "properly qualified" only if he or she is 
hired and employed pursuant to the Project Labor Agreement." 

103.02 Execution of Contract 

The Bidder to whom the Contract has been awarded shall within 
ten (10) calendar days of receipt of Notice of Award: 

Insert new section "(G) Deliver a fully executed copy of the 
Project Labor Agreement pursuant to Supplemental Specification 
104.06, annexed as Exhibit to the Supplemental Specifications." 

107.02 Pre-Construction Conference 

Insert at end of second paragraph: "Contemporaneous with 
presentation of the list of proposed subcontractors, if any, the 
Contractor shall present executed copies of the Project Labor 
Agreement, annexed as Exhibit to the Supplemental 
Specifications, on behalf of each proposed subcontractor pursuant 
to Supplemental Specification 104.06. Failure to present an 
executed copy of said agreement on behalf of any proposed 
subcontractor fer any reason shall be grounds for rejecting that 
proposed subcontractor." 

I I I 
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NORTHERN WIDENING CONTRACTS ON WHICH GEORGE HARMS CONSTRUCTIO~ CO., INC., SUBMITfED BIDSI 

-· --- -

~OF BID c.N" BID st.JCCESSFtJL 
CXJNrRAcr HARMS• BID DATE PLA~r BIDDER 

INI'ERCHANGES 11 - 14 

W-6200 4,111,395.00 4/9/91 12 OF 12 7 8 CONS'I'RUCTION 
3,199,258.00 

W-5100 3,232,825.68 4/10/91 13 OF 18 78 CONSTRUCTION 
2,749,085.50 

W-6302 14,729,210.65 3/29/93 3 OF 3 SLATTERY ASSOC. 
11,000,000.00 

W-4103B 2,674,406.45 5/12/93 3 OF 6 CONDUIT & FOUNDATION 
2,482,697.66 

INI'ERCHANGES 14 - 15E -
W-6303 27,967,638.85 6/24/93 16 OF i8 BELBOLD CONTRACTORS 

23,775,238.70 

W-64112 20,464,360.00 8/24/93 1 OF 12 ALL BIDS 
REJECTED 

1 On the total widening project, including both the southern widening (Interchanges 7 -
9) and the northern widening, 63 contracts had been awarded as of September 1, 1993. Harms 

bid on 24 of those 63 contracts and was awarded five (5) of those on which it bid. All five 
of the contracts awarded to Harms involved construction between Interchanges 8A - 9, and all 
were awarded between June 1987 and November 1989. 

The aggregate of Harms' bids on the 19 widening contracts which it was not awarded 
amounted to $ 179,751,641.50. Those 19 contracts were awarded to the respective low bidders 
at a cost to the Authority of $ 156,648,806.60 ($ 23,102,834.90 less than that bid by 
Harms) . 

The Authority rejected all bids on Contract W-6411 and the contract was rebid as 
Contract W-6411-1. Harms did not rebid on Contract W-6411-1, and the contract was awarded 
at a cost to the Authority of $ 630,374.10 less tha~ that originally bid on W-6411 by Harms. 

-
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October 22, 1993 

NOR.'IHERN WIDENING <XNI'RA.crsl AWARDED AS OF 9/1/93 

TOTAL DOLLAR PERCEN'rAGF. 

AREA OF TOTAL VALUE OF TOTAL (BY DOLLAR 1 

CONSTRUCTION ·roTAL DOLLAR VALUE NUMBER OF CONTRACTS AWARDED NUMBF.R OF VALUE) OF' 
I OF CONTRACTS TO GEORGE HARMS CONTRACTS TOTAL BY AWARDED CONTRACTS coNs·rRUCTION co. , AWARDED CONTRAC'rS INTERCHANGE AWARDED INC. ("HARMS") TO HARMS AWARDED TO 

HARMS 
I I 

ll - 14 215,860,000.00 28 $ 0.00 0 0 % I 
I 

14 - 15E 75,315,000.00 5 0.00 0 0 % 

TOTALS $ 291,175,000.00 332 $ 0.00 o3 0 % I 

L 

1 "Northern Widening Contracts" includes those contracts --:~nvolving construction between 
Interchanges 11 - 15E. This construction began in 1991 and i~. still in progre~s. 

2 Three (3) northern widening contracts have been awarded since the institution of the 
project labor agreements (Contracts Nos. W-6411-1, W-6421, and W-5017). In addition, two (2) 
substantial contracts remain to be awarded in order to complete the northern widening project 
(Contracts Nos. W-~ and W-6422). 

f.Jtl~ 
3 Of the 33 northern widening contracts awarded as of September 1, 1993 (prior to the 

institution of the project labor agreements), Harms submi~ted bids on six (6) and was not 
awarded any of the contracts on which it bid. 
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LADIES AND GENTLEMEN: 

RAMSEY. N E'N J ERSE'~ 

(201) 327-6006 
GOSHEN. NEW YORK 

(91 4) 469-5518 

MY NAME IS JOHN BISHOP, OWNER OF GURNEE HEATING AND AIR 
CONDITIONING, CLOSTER, NJ, AND IT IS MY PLEASURE TO BE HERE TODAY 
REPRESENTING ASSOCIATED BUILDERS AND CONTRACTORS. AS YOU KNOW, 
ASSOCIATED BUILDERS AND CONTRACTORS' MEMBERS ARE OPEN SHOP 
CONTRACTORS, THE GROUP THAT DOES THE VAST MAJORITY OF ALL 
CONSTRUCTION THROUGHOUT THE UNITED STATES AND IN NEW JERSEY AS 
WELL. 

THE GOVERNOR'S EXECUTIVE ORDER NOT ONLY VIOLATES EVERY ASPECT OF 
FREE ENTERPRISE ON BEHALF OF A SPECIAL INTEREST GROUP AND EVERy­
ASPECT OF ESTABLISHED PUBLIC POLICY OVER MANY YEARS, IT ALSO 
CAUSES THE CITIZENS __ OF __ NE __ W JERSEY HARM ______ IN _MANY __ W~A~Y~S~. 

IT VIOLATES FREE ENTERPRISE BY DENYING MOST CONTRACTORS AND 
WORKERS ANY OPPORTUNITY TO WORK ON PUBLICWORK. IT VIOLATES THE 
PRINCIPLES OF A FREE ENTERPRISE SYSTEM BY DENYING THE GOVERNMENT 
THE BENEFITS OF IMPROVED METHODS, EQUIPMENT OR PROiSUCTIVITY. IT 
DENIES ENTREPRENURIAL OPPORTUNITY TO MOST NEW JERSEY CITIZENS. 

THE ORDER VIOLATES LONG ESTABLISHED PUBLIC POLICIES. IT 
VIOLATES, AT THE VERY LEAST, THE SPIRIT OF THE NEW JERSEY PUBI.IC 
BIDDING ACT, WHICH IS INTENDED TO ALLOW A LEVEL AND HONEST 
PLAYING FIELD FOR ALL POTENTIAL SUPPLIERS OF GOODS AND SERVICES, 
AND WHICH DOES NOT ESTABLISH THE USE OF UNION LABOR AS A CRITERIA 
TO BE A QUALIFIED BIDDER. 

I c.c,.. 
IT VIOLATES THE NEARLY CENTURY OLDftCENSUS AND RESULTING PUBLIC 
POLICY THAT MONOPOLIES ARE INHERENTLY BAD, ARE TO BE FORBIDDEN, 
OR IF ALLOWED AS IN THE CASE OF UTILITIES, HEAVILY REGULATED. 
THERE HAS BEEN AN OVERARCHING REALIZATION THAT MONOPOLIES WORK 
AGAINST THE BEST INTERESTS OF OUR COUNTRY AND ITS' CITIZENS. 

IT VIOLATES THE MORE RECENTLY ESTABLISHED PRINCIPLES REGARDING 
DISCRIMINATION BY ENDORSING ORGANIZATIONS WHICH HAVE A LONG AND 
UNDISTINGUISED RECORD OF DISCRIMINATION AGAINST MINORITIES AND 
WOMEN. 

IT EVEN PLAYS FAVORITES AMONG LABOR ORGANIZATIONS BY DECIDING 
ON THE BASIS OF HIDDEN CRITERIA THAT SOME UNIONS CAN SUPPLY LABOR 
ON THESE PUBLIC PROJECTS AND OTHERS CANNOT. THIS VIOLATES ANY 
PRINCIPLE OF GOVERNMENTAL NEUTRALITY IN LABOR RELATIONS ISSUES. 
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BESIDES ALL THESE ISSUES, THE ORDER HARMS NEW JERSEY CITIZENS IN 
A NUMBER OF WAYS, BEYOND THE OBVIOUS DENIAL OF OPPORTUNITY. 

IT REDUCES JOB OPPORTUNITIES FOR THE VAST MAJORITY OF THOSE 
IN THE CONSTRUCTION INDUSTRY. 

IT DISPROPORTIONALLY REDUCES OPPORTUNITIES IN CONSTRUCTION 
FOR MINORITIES AND WOMEN. 

IT INCREASES THE COSTS TO THE TAXPAYERS BY DENYING THE PUBLIC 
THE BENEFIT Ow-BEING ABLE TO USE THE LOWEST PRICED, QUALIFIED 
BIDDER. FOR THE TIP OF THE ICEBERG, JUST TAKE THE DIFFERENCE 
BETWEEN CONTRACT PRICES OF THE HARMS COMPANY AND THE NEXT 
LOWEST BIDDER WHO WOULD HAVE USED AFL-CIO BUILDING TRADES 
LABOR. OVER THE YEARS, THAT ONE RELATIONSHIP HAS SAVED THE 
TAXPAYERS SUBSTANTIAL AMOUNTS, I AM SORE. 

AS A RESULT OF HIGHER COSTS AND LIMITED BUDGETS, IT WILL DENY 
THE PUBLIC THE BENEFIT OF NEEDED FACILITIES THAT COULD BE---­
PROVIDED WITH THE FONDS-sAVED THROUGH ADEQUATE COMPETITION 
FOR PUBLIC WORK. 

IT CLEARLY DIMINISHES MANAGEMENTS' ABILITY TO NEGOTIATE 
RESPONSIBLE WAGES AND BENEFITS WHEN LABOR HAS A MONOPOLY ON 
THE MANPOWER. THIS, OF COURSE, WILL TRANSLATE INTO WAGES 
THAT MAKE NEW JERSEY EVEN LESS COMPETITIVE WITHIN THE REGION 
THAN IT ALffiDY IS. -- --

IT DEMONSTRATES AN INSTITUTIONALIZED FAVORITISM WITHIN NEW 
JERSEY TOWARDS THE AFL-CIO BUILDING TRADES THAT DISCOURAGES 
NEW PRIVATE CONSTRUCTION PLANS. THINK ABOUT IT, IF YOU WERE 
A FACILITY MANAGER DECIDING WHETHER TO DO A SUBSTANTIAL 
CONSTRUCTION PROJECT IN NEW JERSEY, AND YOU SAW THIS TILT 
TOWARDS ORGANIZED LABOR AND ANTICIPATED SIGNIFICANT FUTURE 
LABOR COST INCREASES, WHAT WOULD YOU DO IF YOU HAD OTHER, 
MORE STABLE AREAS AVAILABLE? 
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SOMETIMES WE LIKE OUR OWN WORDS, BUT I THINK IN THIS CASE WE 
SHOULD CONSIDER THE WORDS OF OTHERS. 

I QUOTE FROM SEVERAL RECENT ISSUES OF ENGINEERING NEWS-RECORD,A 
RESPECTED NEUTRAL MAGAZINE WITHIN THE CONSTRUCTION INDUSTRY; 

SEPTEMBER 27, 1993 -EDITORIAL HEADLINE "STATES SHOULD NOT 
PLAY FAVORITES AMONG COMPETING CONTRACTORS." IT GOES ON 
TO SAY, IN THE FIRST SENTENCE "NEW JERSEY GOVERNOR JIM 
FLORIO IS TAKING A WALK ON THE WILD SIDE OF CONSTRUCTION 
INDUSTRY LABOR RELATIONS." 

"THE STATE ADMINISTRATION MISTAKENLY IS CUTTING OFF WHOLE 
CLASSES OF RESPONSIBLE BIDDERS BY PLAYING POLITICS WITH A 
SPECIAL INTEREST GROUP. IRONICALLY, THE STATE ALSO IS 
DESTROYING THE FREE MARKET FORCES THAT HELP KEEP BUILDING 
TRADE UNIONS RESPONSIBILE" 

"THE BOTTOM LINE ON ALL OF THIS IS THAT GOVERNMENT HAS A 
VERY SPECIAL RSPONSIBILITY TO CONTRACT FAIRLY WITH ALL 
PARTS OF THE INDUSTRY. PROJECT AGREEMENTS MANDATED BY 
PUBLIC AGENCIES ARE NOTHING BUT AN EXCLUSIONARY TACTIC TO 
BENEFIT A FEW RATHER THAN THE PUBLIC AS A WHOLE." 

OCTOBER 11, 1993 - EDITORIAL HEADLINE "NONCOMPETITIVE STATES 
CAN LEARN FROM ALABAMA AND ITS NEIGHBORS" 

THIS EDITORIAL CONCERNS PLANT SITING AND THE RECENT 
MERCEDES DECISION. "TRADITIONAL MANUFACTURING STATES UP 
NORTH SEEMINGLY ARE WEDDED TO KEEPING OUTMODED INDUSTRIES 
ALIVE, WHILE THEIR POLITICIANS PURSUE HIGH-COST, HIGH-TAX 
PROGRAMS THAT TEND TO DRAG DOWN THE WHOLE ECONOMY. 
EXISTING INFRASTRUCTURE PLUS WORK FORCE AVAILABILITY AND 
TRAINING ARE ALMOST UNSURPASSED IN NEW YORK OR NEW JERSEY, 
FOR EXAMPLE. YET COMPANIES ARE PULLING OUT RATHER THAN 
IN." 

"THERE ARE SOME VERY IMPORTANT LESSONS TO BE LEARNED •••• " 

LADIES AND GENTLEMEN, ASSOCIATED BUILDERS AND CONTRACTORS, IN 
SUPPORT OF FREE ENTERPRISE AND THE RIGHT OF EVERY FIRM AND PERSON 
IN NEW JERSEY TO HAVE AN EQUAL OPPORTUNITY TO SUPPLY GOODS AND 
SERVICES TO THE GOVERNMENTAL UNITS IN NEW JERSEY 1 CALL ON YOU TO 
TAKE LEGISLATIVE ACTION TO REVERSE THE GOVERNOR'S ILL-ADVISED 
POLICY, TO ASSURE THAT NEITHER ONION MEMBERSHIP, OR LACK THEREOF, 
IS A QUALIFICATION TO PERFORM ON PUBLIC WORKS IN OUR STATE, AND 
TO ELIMINATE THIS BLOT ON OUR DESIRABILITY AS A SITE FOR INDUSTRY 
TO BUILD AND WORK. 



OPEN BIDDING ON FEDERAL CONSTRUcnON PROJBCI'S 
• 

DESCRIPilON OF ISSUE: 

ABC is strongly opposed to union-only project agreements on federal construction projects. 
Union-only agreements are pre-hire agreements requiring work be performed by union labor, following 
union agreed upon wages, benefits and working conditions. These agreements not only drive up the cost 
of federal construction by reducing competition, but also exclude non-union contractors from bidding on 
projects paid for by their own tax dollars. 

SI'AnJS: 

Shonly after entering office, President Ointon reicinded an executive order that was issued last 
October by former President Bush. The Bush executive order prohibited union-only requirements on 
federal construction projects. The U.S. Supreme Court handed down a decision against ABC in our· 
lawsuit against the Massachusetts Water Resources Authority over the union-only provision in the $6.1 
billion Boston Harbor Ceanup Project. Senator Don Nickles (R-OK) has introduced S. 546, legislation 
to prohibit discrimination against contractors based on their labor affiliation. ABC strongly supports the 
bill, which will guarantee that the federal construction bid process is open to all 

POINTS OF DISCUSSION: 

• The Supreme Court's BostOn Harbor decision allows the government to restrict competition in 
one of the largest industries in our nation - construction. Restricting competition inevitably leads to 
increased costs. 

' 
• With an enormous federal deficit and stagnant economy, the United States cannot afford to pay 
unnecessarily high costs for construction projects. Further, increased costs mean fewer jobs in an industry 
with already record levels of unemployment. 

. 
• Open shop contractors and their employees, who perform 75% of construction in this nation today, 
have a right to bid on projects paid for with their own tax dollars. 

• The Supreme Court's decision will encourage a dramatic increase in the pressure tactics used by 
unions to get municipalities to build union-only. .i 

• A Government Accounting Office (GAO) study showed that wages paid on the union-only 
agreement at the Idaho National Engineering.Laboratory at Idaho Falls, Idaho, were 17-21% higher than 
those already set by the federal government.' , : 

• Under union-only agreements, contractor employees are forced to join a union in order to perform 
any work on the project. Workers should have a right to decide for themselves whether they want to join 
a union. 

• Legislation that would restore equity to the federal bidding process is supponed by a broad cross-
section of organizations. 

Apri11993 
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SJU inkkr liut·r llotdc·s. hu 
tnuu· llllunn;uum, t'IJIII,tcl 

T••ul 1\tert at IlK' CH, (711:1) 
HI~-~"MI, 
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OJil..'"liii\'C lltCMifh, IK~ l:UU­

SI:ntc:tifKI[UIIIr.tc·tsdtctpJM'fl:l 
percent in Milrt.h, OK.'nuchn~ 
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Non-IMtiklingCtMt.'\Cructiltn, 
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ABC Tad .. •-. •• 
The Tndh About Construction Fatalities- Open Shop Jobsltea Safer 

ABC ~lines it io titM fb ~ the record straight and to 
chaJien~ the uniom' claim t.hat it!t afcty record is bctt~r 
than that of the open shof>. ABC has rnicwed the OSHA 
r.,.,n. A...U,.u of ("-imt Flllnlitia · 7¥ OW/A 0.. 
/1411 /9/f'.J9R9 and the infnnnati<Nt is ckar. 0.., the 

five·y<21" """"" or the rc:pot1. tl"' unions opc:rienttd a 
fatality ratoo or !0.9 f'c:1" 100.000 WO<kc:n. more tlD11 tS 
pen:ent higher than that or the npm shop"• IS. I f'c:1" 
100.000 WO<ken. While conotruction unions account for 
one-fifth of the loW workfortt, tl"'f allo account for 
more than one.fourth or tl"' fatalili<!s in the industry. 
AI\C. ill ltmnRIY cnnnnittcd to ~afC"ty and is rk,h•R ~ 
thi11R it CUI tu C"l~ltn~ :1 ~fr ;mc:J :. !ICCllfC WU1 k. cnvium· 
mc1U fo•- its n1C1it shop craf~£ntctt. 

Tioc OSHA rf'J'Orl's !"'.,.,.., was to entf>ltasi7-" to tl~e 
construction industry the need for iflCJ'n~Cd awareness 
and edunlionalpn'l!""ms on tJ~e ocrious nature of safety 
har.artls in the construction indllllry. 

Fili{'lrC I ur lhr OSIIA f("JJOn I:UIIIJMfCS untnn and 
npen "I"Jf' fatality !tatiM.ia. lbiJ clmn is the' basis of lhe 
union~· d:.im!\; however, lh«! rqJ011 clearly ronduded 
•the rli!\trihurion n( (ataliti~ amnng union and oren shop 
wnrbitf"~ i!\ !tin1ilar lu the composition of the constnK:· 
tiun wmkfmrc in trrm!\ nf union and 'tf'Cit shnp wnri· 
c• "·.. ll1c sraustin.J diiTcrcrKc that docs exist clearly 
•how• tl~e open shop stttor has a conaiotcntly better 
1ccord of pcrfonnancc. 

111<' t.,l>le in figmc 2, enlltk<l ht•litico - OJlCn Shop 
Vrnu~ Union, provido lhc !\lotli!tticd infonnatiun OSifA 
used in figure I. Whot do 11..,.. statistics indialel Over 
tloc rcpm's fivc·ynr period, the OJlC" shop workforce 
avt'n~gcrl apprnxin1atcly 2.4 million more work~n than 
tlw union workJorcc, or a n~tK> uf o,cn siHJP to union 
workcn or ~.6 to I. Wit.h just over ntK"·fifth nf th~ total 
workforce, the untnn WIH Uurcc 3Yr.f11Rcd more than one· 
fourth of all constnu.:tiun fatalitiel'. 

1-'iRIII'C ::\ ptMC'"III!\ lhr f;1tality r.11c~ clqtif"linR the tntlll· 
hn nf foualili("!l I""' ltMJ,OUU wutk•·u. ·nn, R',.Ph siH,ws 
th~t nllCS for OJN:'II !hnp WOI ken, uvcr the period of the 
rcpurt, .are consistr.ndy lower than both the industry 
avcraJ(C and the union falahty n1tc. In tnms of the 
numh("r of wotkf"n JK"r fatality, the uninn!l have one 
f;tt;,litr I"'' -tA,fHMI wmkc·•~ lo tht• open '""'P Ketor's one 
ft~cllil)'l""' rM.,tMNJ wmkr"l~. 

\\'hat dnc"' thi~ tC"IHnt mc·an fur lite' Of~ll ~hop con­
!\tmctiun imh1!\1ry? h siHtWJ lhat oprn siHtp worbito a~ 
~;~f,·r than uniun wnrksircs. AI\C bel~ this i.1 due in 
lar•c mca~u~ tn the nuny s.1fcty initiatiW':'!I that ABC has 
takrn lo cn!\m ~ that it!t n:.fuuncn arc heinR trained to 
JlCrfomt safely and productivdy on tl~e jobsite. 

II should be: noted that II of nur country's lafll"'l 
contractors arc working l"'!eth<r witlt ABC and the Mmt 
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UTILITY and TRANSPORTATION CONTRACTORS ASSOCIATION 

TESTIMONY BEFORE THE SENATE TRANSPORTATION COMMITTEE 

REGARDING PROJECT LABOR AGREEMENTS AND 

RECENT ACTIONS OF THE TURNPIKE AND GOVERNOR's OFFICE 

October 22, 1993 

I am Robert A. Briant, Sr. executive director of the Utility and Transportation Contractors 

Association (UTCA). Our membership numbers approximately 940 member firms active 

in all phases of heavy, highway, utility and hazardous waste remediation construction 

throughout New Jersey. UTCA firms are both small and large and are responsible for 

approximately 80 percent of all of the heavy, highway and utility construction at all levels 

of government, and in the private sector, throughout this state. Association members 

also construct numerous projects in the surrounding states. 

With me today to discuss Project Labor Agreements and their impact on our industry are 

J. Fletcher Creamer, Jr., president of J. Fletcher Creamer & Son, and Peter Getchell, 

president of PKF-Mark III. These two companies are major construction firms active 

throughout New Jersey as well as other states. The individuals also serve as co-chairmen 

of our Labor Committee and bargaining group which is known as the Construction 

Contractor Labor Employers of New Jersey. They are well versed in labor negotiations 

and labor matters with the construction trades active in our segment of the industry. 

Also with me today is Steven Brawer, association legal counsel, who is well versed in state 

bidding and contract law in that he has argued major cases before the State Courts. Our 

legal counsel is currently involved in the matter regarding our Association and the Turnpike 

relating to Project Labor Agreements~ He is here to assist with questions of law that 

might develop in connection with our appearance. 

Our Association supports free and open cpmpetition for public construction contracts, 

based on reasonable prequalification where appropriate, determined by the low bid system. 

The basic foundation for awarding public construction contracts, supported by taxpayer 

funds, is enhanced through competition and the low bid system as it has been for most 

of this century. Project Labor Agreements which specify particular union involvem~nt 

lessen competition for the work which in turn will increase the cost of construction in 

this state. 
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As you know from earlier testimony, what has brought us here today is the fact that the 

Turnpike recently instituted a rarely used provision in construction which is know as the 

Project Labor Agreement. Project Labor Agreements have been utilized in the past, 

primarily in private. construction, usually when a major project has been constructed by 

national firms, time has been of essence and the Labor Agreement has been negotiated 

by representatives of the Owner of the project and the unions in the area of the work.· 

What you heard in earlier testimony today is that a very unique public waste water 

treatment project is under construction in the Boston Harbor which is utilizing a Project 

Labor Agreement. This project is particularly unique because it is one of the only public 

projects utilizing such an Agreement, and it is being construction on Deer Island, a site 

in the Boston Harbor itself. Most public projects are not built on islands in the middle 

of harbors and therefore don't require Project Labor Agreements. 

The Boston Harbor Project is so unique that transportation of workers, material and supplies 

have to be brought in by ferry, batge or ship as well as over a small strip of land that 

connects the island with the mainland. Also, after many years of neglect locally, the 

Federal Court stepped in and mandated that Boston upgrade its water pollution control 

system that had been lacking for so many years. Federal Courts mandated specific dates 

and time frames for completion of certain portions of the work, with multi-million dollars 

in penalties if completion dates were not met. As can be seen, some very unique situations, 

almost unprecedented conditions, exist with.this project in the Boston Harbor. 

With all of these special conditions facing local authorities and under the enormous pressure 

of the Federal Courts, the local Authority turned to its construction manager, Kaiser 

Engineers, which suggested that under the unusual circumstances facing the Authority 

a Project Labor Agreement might be beneficial for the work. Kaiser Engineers had been 

familiar with such Agreements with its previous_ w~rk in the private sector of construction. 

After rece1vmg approval from the Authority, Kaiser Engineers began negotiations of a 

Project Labor Agreement with the Building Trades Council of the Boston Metropolitan 

District. Finally after considerable discussions, the Project Agreement became effective 

on May 22, 1989. It is important to note that this Agreement was negotiated with 

representatives of local unions, just as it has been done in the private sector, in order 

to achieve the most cost efficient provisions in exchange for the use of such an Agreement 

for the work. In many instances, the negotiated Project Labor Agreement prevails over 

the local Agreements in the area. 
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I cite the unique circumstances of the Boston Harbor Project Labor Agreement because 

it has been mentioned so often by the Turnpike in its recent action as well as by Governor 

Florio in Executive Order No. 99. Our Association has also recently learned that 

repr_esentatives_ of the County Construction Trades have approached county governments 

with the story that Project Labor Agreements should be utilized for public construction 

at that level of government as well. Nothing could be further from the truth for the 

Turnpike, state government and county government. 

Our major concern about the use of Project Labor Agreements is that it upsets the long 

acc~pted balance between labor and construction management in New Jersey. UTCA's 

bargaining group, in conjunction with other construction associations, has achieved major 

productivity improvements in labor contracts over the past nine years. These productivity 

gains relate to millions of dollars in savings to the taxpayers in New Jersey and have come 

after extended and serious negotiations with labor leaders of this state. Many of these 

productivity gains are listed as an attachment to this testimony. 

Government bureaucrats are not versed in construction labor negotiations. That is what 

we are faced with, if the Turnpike Action and Governor's Executive Order remains as 

proposed. As representatives of firms that are responsible for the construction of these 

projects, we resent the fact that government is attempting to usurp our ability and 

responsibility to negotiate with labor in New Jersey. 

Basically, it is unreasonable to even consider the Boston Harbor situation here in New 

Jersey. The Turnpike, state agencies and other governmental groups are not constructing 

projects on islands in the middle of harbors. New Jersey projects are also not under severe 

mandates of Federal Courts, where multi-million dollar fines may be applied. It is ludicrous 

to compare the two situations. What we have in current New Jersey construction are 

projects that have been successfully constructed day in and day out on a regular basis, 

at the rate of about $1.5 billion annually, for the past three years, without any need for 

Project Labor Agreements. In fact, by all standards, the heavy, highway and utility 

construction industry is constructing quality projects on a regular basis, on time, and with 

considerable savings to the taxpayers. A list of some recent project cost savings is also 

attached to this testimony. 
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What is especially troublesome regarding this matter with the Turnpike and Governor's 

Office is how all of this has been developed behind closed doors and in secret. It could 

be that the Turnpike Commissioners and the Governor have been ill advised in this matter. 

The fact that the imposition of the Project _Labor Agreement was done without any public 

notice, and as an after thought to a contract that had already been bid (W6411), is 

noteworthy. Such actions raise many questions about why this entire· process has been 

pursued. 

UTCA has worked closely with state agencies and the Office of Governor for the 20 years 

of my involvement with the Association. We .have supported construction programs involving 

our work on a regular basis. As it relates to.the Turnpike, representatives of our Association 

have met on a regular basis with officials of the Authority regarding areas of specifications_ 

provisions, insurance, minority business, safety, contract sizes, project problems and 

planning. The fact that representatives of the Turnpike did not consult with our Association, 

which represents the majority of all firms working on the Widening Project, is hard to 

believe. It appears as though they and others did not want us to learn of such plans, although 

our firms are those which sign the construction contracts and guarantee successful 

completion of the work for the Turnpike. 

The entire matter involving the Turnpike and the Governor's Office is unprecedented in 

public construction in this country. Project Labor Agreement use in construction is not 

used in public construction, except for the very unique case of the Boston Harbor Project. 

O~r legal counsel has indicated to us that the actions of the Turnpike and the Governor 

are illegal when state bidding laws and constitutional questions are considered. That is 

why our argument is now before the State Supreme Court for consideration. 

Notwithstanding the final State Supreme Court action, we believe. that the Legislature 

should make it clear that Project Labor Agreements are not in the best interest of public 

construction in New Jersey. Such Agreements should be ruled null and void and contrary 

to public policy as they only limit competition, lead to higher costs and deprive construction 

management from achieving greater productivity gains through labor negotiations which 

in turn provide greater savings to the taxpayers. 
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COLLECTIVE BARGAINING PRODUCTIVITY 

GAINS FROM 1984 TO PRESENT 

Operators 

* 

* 
* 

* 

* 

Moves on earth moving equipment. 
- loaders, pavers, dozers, graders, rollers, combo hoes. 
Saturday overtime rate at 1 t times the regular rate. 
No oilers on any size hydraulic backhoe, rough terrain cranes, and, crawler and truck 
cranes 45 tons and under. -
Sewer manning requirements on projects at $4 million and less and for all projects 
$3 million and under. 
Drug testing requirements. 

North Jersey Ironworkers 

* 
* 
* 

4 x 10 hour days with-Friday makeup. 
Saturday overtime rate at 1 t times the regular rate. 
Reduced rate for installing reinforcing steel: 
* $1.00 less per hour. 

Teamsters 

* 

* 

* 
* 

* 
* 

Buy out of vacation days. 
- 2 days(# 331 and 676) and three weeks(# 408, 469 and 560). 
Buy out of personal and funeral days. 
- 2 personal days (all locals). 
- funeral days(# 408, 469 and 560). 
Buy out of 8 hour guarantee for journeyman. 
Health and welfare benefits paid on hours worked (#331 and 676). Other locals have 
a cap. 
Saturday over time rate at 1 t times the regular rate. 
Drug free worksites. 

Dock builders 

* 
* 
* 
* 

Composite crews. 
Utility construction rate is reduced by $1.00 per hour. 
Saturday overtime rate at 1 t times the regular rate. 
No mandatory crew size on utility construction. 

Carpen~ers 

* 
* 

Elimination of 8 hour journeyman guarantee. 
Saturday overtime rate at 1 t times the regular rate. 

Heavy Laborers 

* 
* 

** 

Drug free worksite. 
Saturday overtime rate at 1 t times the regular rate. 

The productivity gains that are listed here are only some of all that have been achieved 
over the past nine years through negotiations. 
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NJ TURNPIKE AUTHORITY WIDENING CONTRACTS AWARDED 

50 Contracts 
Low Bids 
$386,497,814 

October 1988 - Present 

2nd Low Bids 
$407,388,109 

SaviDgs 
$20,890,295 

* Savings of approximately 5.1 percent when the total of low bids is compared to the 
2nd low bids. -

* Although the Turnpike's estimate for each contract is never published, it is estimated 
by the industry that the savings have averaged between 15-20 percent overall. That 
amounts to a savings of approximately $72-97 million to date. 

TOTAL NJ FEDERAL-AID ffiGHWAY PROJECTS 1992 

#Of 
Contracts 
37 

Total 
Low Bids 
$219,702,200 

Total Amount 
Eng. Estimates 
$248,401,800 

lilt Under 
Estimates 
11.6% 

TOTAL NJINTERSTATE ffiGHWAY PROJECTS 1992 

#Of 
Contracts 
5 

Total 
Low Bids 
$89,362,300 

Total Amount 
Eng. Estimates 
$106,037,500 

lilt Under 
Estimates 
15.7% 

MEMBERS OF .:rHE NEW JERSEY 
SENATE TRANSPORT A 110N COMKI"'TEB 

William Haines- Republican (Chairman) 
John Scott- Republican (Vice-Chairman) 
Andy Ciesla - Republican 
Randy Corman- Republican 
Thomas Cowan - Democrat 
Walter Rand - Democrat 
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My name is Bruce Robertson and I've been a steelworker for 18 
years. I consider myself to be a skilled craftsman, diligent, 
hardworking and proud to be an American. 

I have worked on countless federal and state projects, totalling 
hundreds of millions of dollars. Recently a new term called 
"project agreements" has been forced upon us, eliminating us from 
the competitive bidding process. 

For obvious reasons, I have always been in favor of a free and 
openly competitive bidding system. I cannot believe that project 
agreements are considered to be in the public's best interest. I 
believe the State of New Jersey is mistakenly cutting-off whole 
classes of responsible bidders and skillful workers by playing 
politics with special interest groups. 

The purpose of promoting and ensuring open competitive bidding on 
federal and state construction projects is in my estimation to: 
(1) increase competition, the life blood of America; (2) reduce 
construction costs so our tax dollars are spent wisely; (3) expand 
job opportunities for those workers who are unable to have access 
to the building trades; and (4) uphold the rights of workers to 
freely select or refrain from selecting a bargaining 
representative. 

I feel that government has a responsibility to contract fairly with 
all parts of the industry. Project agreements are nothing but an 
exclusionary tactic to benefit a few rather than the whole. The 
Florio Administration is using project agreements to get votes in 
exchange for political endorsements. This is a political football 
that should be eliminated from the open bidding process. 

The economies of New Jersey and America are in hard times. Jobs 
are at a premium and hard to come by. To selectively give jobs to 
a few who contribute to the right campaign is like stealing the 
food right off our tables. 

If we are to survive in an ever changing economy, we must be 
competitive and free from special interest groups. Democracy is 
doomed because special interest groups will be able to vote itself 
funds from the public treasury. We will all be held hostage by 
project agreements and deprived of making a livelihood for our 
families because of this arbitrary and insensitive action. 

The Governor should be concerned about the State of New Jersey, not 
who's contributing to his re-election. If we can build projects 
and save taxpayer dollars, we should have the same rights as 
everybody to bid on these jobs. 

I have always believed that by working hard and having pride in my 
work that I would be rewarded of the fruits of my labor. Instead I 
am forced out of work. 
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102 West State Street 
Trenton, NJ 08608-1102 

609-393-n07 FAX 609-989-7371 

NEW JERSEY BUSINESS & INDUSTRY ASSOCIATION 

TO: 
FROM: 
RE: 

October 22, 1993 

Senate Transportation Committee 
Jeff Stoller, Vice President I Industrial Relations 
Executive Order 99 

The New Jersey Business & Industry Association, representing more than 
13,500 employers statewide, urges the committee to take a critical look at the 
impact of Governor Florio's Executive Order 99. That order, requiring all 
state departments and agencies to force their contractors to sign Project 
Labor Agreements with the New Jersey Building & Construction Trades 
Council, will inflate costs for both our public and private sectors. 

NJBIA's principal concerns include: 

*the added costs New Jersey taxpayers will endure when 
legitimate low bids on projects are rejected in order to divert 
work to the BCTC; 

* the use of public funds to favor specific unions involved in 
infighting among various organized labor groups; 

* the potential that wage rates and work rules imposed on the 
public sector through Executive Order 99 will increase pressure 
to extend identical terms to private sector contracts as well. 

We are particularly concerned that this order is a "back door" approach to 
extending the New Jersey Prevailing Wage Law in directions previously 
rejected by legislators in both parties. · 

Executive Order 99 represents special interest politics of the worst kind. 
NJBIA asks the committee to determine what public interest, if any, is 
served by adoption of this order. 
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